# FRACTAL MEASURES ON INFINITE DIMENSIONAL SETS

## DISSERTATION

Presented in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for

the Degree Doctor of Philosophy in the Graduate

School of The Ohio State University

By

Mark McClure, B.S.

\* \* \* \* \*

The Ohio State University

1994

Dissertation Committee:

Gerald A. Edgar

Joseph Rosenblatt

Neil Falkner

Approved by

Adviser Department of Mathematics

## Vita

August 4, 196	1	Born in	Columbus,	Ohio.
---------------	---	---------	-----------	-------

1988	B.S., Ohio State University, Columbus.
1989-1994	Graduate Teaching Associate, Department of Mathematics, The Ohio State University, Columbus, Ohio.

# FIELDS OF STUDY

Major Field: Mathematics Studies in Fractal Geometry, Measure Theory

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

VITA	4		ii
LIST	OF S	YMBOLS	v
СНА	PTER	PA	GE
Ι	Introd	luction	1
II	Basic	Definitions	4
	2.1	Measure Theoretic Definitions of Dimension	4
		2.1.1 Hausdorff Dimension	4
		2.1.2 The Packing and Centered Covering Dimensions	9
	2.2	The Entropy Dimensions	14
III	Comp	utational Methods	21
	3.1	Sequence Spaces	21
	3.2	Calculation of the Entropy Dimensions	23
	3.3	Computation of Hausdorff Measures	26
	3.4	s-Nested Packings	30
	3.5	A Cartesian Product Example	34
IV	Dimer	nsions of Hyperspaces	38
	4.1	Entropy Dimensions of the Space $\mathcal{K}(X)$	38
	4.2	Hausdorff Dimension of $\mathcal{K}(X)$	44
	4.3	Entropy and Hausdorff Dimensions of the Space $\mathcal{C}(R^d)$	50

V	Func	tion Spaces	55
	$5.1 \\ 5.2$	Entropy Dimensions of the Space of Smooth Functions Hausdorff Dimension of the Space of Smooth Functions	$\frac{55}{62}$
BIB	LIOG	RAPHY	65

# LIST OF SYMBOLS

Symbol	Page
$\Phi, \varphi, \mathcal{H}^{\varphi}_{\varepsilon}, \mathcal{H}^{\varphi}$	
$\prec, \preceq, \asymp$	
$\mathcal{H}^{lpha}$	
$\widetilde{\mathcal{C}}^{\varphi}_{\varepsilon},\widetilde{\mathcal{C}}^{\varphi},\mathcal{C}^{\varphi}$	
$\widetilde{\mathcal{P}}^{\varphi}_{\varepsilon},\ \widetilde{\mathcal{P}}^{\varphi},\ \mathcal{P}^{\varphi}$	
$N_{\varepsilon}, \Delta, \delta$	
$\widehat{\Delta}, \ \widehat{\delta}$	
$\alpha, \alpha, \overline{\alpha}, [\alpha]$	
$\overline{D}^{\varphi}_{\mu}(x,(\delta_k)_k)$	
$\tilde{Q}^{\varphi}_{\varepsilon}, \; \tilde{Q}^{\varphi}, \; Q^{\varphi} \; \ldots $	
$\mathcal{K}(X), \tilde{ ho}$	
$\mathcal{C}(\mathbb{R}^d)$	
$C(E), f _E, \ \cdot\ $	
$F(c,q,\mathbb{R}^d), F(c,q,E)$	

## CHAPTER I

## Introduction

The oldest notion of dimension was clearly intuitive in nature. Mathematicians felt that the line  $\mathbb{R}$  was somehow different from the plane  $\mathbb{R}^2$  long before they were proven to be non-homeomorphic. Intuition is less useful a guide for more complicated sets, however. Cantor type sets illustrate this nicely. In some sense they are small being able to fill up no part of  $\mathbb{R}$ . On the other hand, they seem big being uncountable and measure theoretically rich. Thus the need arises for a rigorous definition of dimension.

There are now many such definitions. Fractal dimensions are those that concentrate on the metric structure of a set and lead to the possibility of a set having a non-integral dimension. Thus a fractal dimension allows for the possibility of distinction between sets with equal topological dimension, which is necessarily integral. Cantor's ternary set for example has topological dimension 0, but fractal dimension  $\frac{\log 2}{\log 3} \approx 0.6309$ . (There are different definitions of fractal dimension, but I know of none that assign some other dimension to Cantor's set.) Thus a fractal dimension somehow captures the bigness of Cantor's set which the topological dimension misses.

The oldest fractal dimension is Hausdorff's [Ha]. His definition is based on a measure theoretic construction of Carathéodory [Ca]. Carathéodory was interested

in defining a measure similar to Lebesgue's to measure the size of a smooth *m*dimensional sub-manifold of  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . In [Ha], Hausdorff shows that this may be extended to a natural *s*-dimensional measure  $\mathcal{H}^s$  for any real s > 0. This in turn defines dimension by choosing an appropriate parameter *s* to measure a given set  $E \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ .

More generally, the dimension of a set E may be roughly associated with a monotone increasing function  $\varphi(t)$  defined for  $t \ge 0$  and with  $\varphi(0) = 0$ . In this case write  $\dim(E) \sim \varphi(t)$ . To say that E has finite dimension s, is to say that  $\dim(E) \sim t^s$ . The faster  $\varphi$  vanishes at the origin, the larger the corresponding dimension. It is possible if E is a subset of a large metric space, that  $\dim(E) \sim \varphi$ , where  $\varphi$  disappears faster at the origin than any power of t. Thus we see that fractal dimensions may be used not only to distinguish between sets of equal integral dimension, but also potentially between sets of infinite dimension. It is on such sets that I will concentrate in this dissertation.

The organization is as follows. In chapter two, I state definitions making the above ideas precise. This chapter is based on much earlier work, but tailored to my purposes. There are many definitions stated, but they are all interrelated and some are essentially equivalent. I prove some comparison theorems which indicate that a fairly complete dimensional picture emerges if we can understand two definitions in particular - the Hausdorff dimension and the upper entropy dimension.

In chapter three, I develop some important computational tools and illustrate their use on some spaces which are relatively easy to deal with called sequence spaces. In section 3.4, sequence spaces are in turn used to define another important tool for calculating Hausdorff dimension - the *s*-nested packing. Finally, in section 3.5 I discuss an example involving Cartesian-products which illustrates why certain definitions have evolved to their current form.

Chapters four and five form the heart of the original material dealing with hyperspaces and function spaces respectively. These are two of the most natural examples of infinite dimensional spaces. Hyperspaces are metric spaces whose elements are subsets of another metric space. Two early papers concerned with dimensions of hyperspaces are [Boa] and [Bro]. In chapter four, I extend results proven there to other notions of dimension and more general metric spaces.

The fifth and final chapter is based on [KolTi] which summarizes the earliest dimensional estimates specifically aimed at infinite dimensional spaces. The theorems proven in [KolTi] deal with what are now called the entropy indices for various sets of functions and are part of the resolution of some questions arising from Hilbert's thirteenth problem. I extend some of these theorems to other notions of dimension.

## CHAPTER II

## **Basic Definitions**

In this dissertation I will be defining various notions of dimension in a general setting.  $(X, \rho)$  or simply X will denote an arbitrary separable metric space. I will frequently specify that X is complete. For  $E \subset X$ , diam(E) will denote the diameter of E. That is diam $(E) = \sup_{x,y \in X} \{\rho(x,y)\}$ . If  $E, F \subset X$ , then dist $(E, F) = \inf_{x \in E, y \in F} \rho(x, y)$ denotes the distance from E to F. Given  $x \in X$  and r > 0,  $B_r(x)$  will denote the closed ball of radius r about the point x. That is  $B_r(x) = \{y \in X : \rho(x, y) \leq r\}$ .

#### 2.1 Measure Theoretic Definitions of Dimension

#### 2.1.1 Hausdorff Dimension

The first definition of a fractal dimension was Hausdorff's [Ha]. Although he was primarily concerned with subsets of Euclidean space, his definition generalizes readily to  $\sigma$ -totally bounded subsets of an arbitrary metric space. Here I follow the very general approach of Rogers [Rog].

For  $\varepsilon > 0$  an  $\varepsilon$ -cover of E will be a countable or finite collection of sets,  $E_i \subset X$ ,

so that  $E \subset \bigcup_i E_i$  and  $\operatorname{diam}(E_i) \leq \varepsilon$  for every *i*. Let  $\Phi$  denote the set of all nondecreasing, continuous functions  $\varphi$  defined on some interval  $[0, \delta)$  so that  $\varphi(0) = 0$ and  $\varphi(t) > 0$  for t > 0. Such functions will be called *Hausdorff functions*. Given  $\varphi \in \Phi$ , define a measure  $\mathcal{H}^{\varphi}$  on X as follows:

$$\mathcal{H}_{\varepsilon}^{\varphi}(E) = \inf \left\{ \sum_{i} \varphi(\operatorname{diam}(E_{i})) : \{E_{i}\}_{i} \text{ is an } \varepsilon \text{-cover of } E \right\},$$
$$\mathcal{H}^{\varphi}(E) = \lim_{\varepsilon \searrow 0} \mathcal{H}_{\varepsilon}^{\varphi}(E).$$

Note that  $\mathcal{H}_{\varepsilon}^{\varphi}(E)$  increases as  $\varepsilon$  decreases so that  $\mathcal{H}^{\varphi}(E)$  is well defined, though possibly infinite. In [Rog] it is proven that  $\mathcal{H}^{\varphi}$  is a metric outer measure on X. By a *metric outer measure* I mean that  $\mathcal{H}^{\varphi}$  satisfies  $\mathcal{H}^{\varphi}(E \cup F) = \mathcal{H}^{\varphi}(E) + \mathcal{H}^{\varphi}(F)$ , whenever dist(E, F) > 0. This implies that all analytic (and in particular all Borel) subsets of X are  $\mathcal{H}^{\varphi}$ -measurable. Denote the restriction of  $\mathcal{H}^{\varphi}$  to the  $\mathcal{H}^{\varphi}$ -measurable subsets of X also by  $\mathcal{H}^{\varphi}$  and call this the *Hausdorff*  $\varphi$ -measure on X.

The idea behind the Hausdorff dimension is that the value of  $\mathcal{H}^{\varphi}(E)$  is governed by the asymptotic properties of  $\varphi(t)$  as  $t \searrow 0$  in a way indicative of the dimension of E. For example if  $\mu_n$  is Lebesgue measure on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  and  $\psi_{\alpha}(t) = t^{\alpha}$ , then

$$\mathcal{H}^{\psi_{\alpha}} = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } \alpha > n \\ c_{n}\mu_{n} & \text{if } \alpha = n \ (c_{n} \text{ constant}) \\ \text{is non-}\sigma\text{-finite} & \text{if } \alpha < n. \end{cases}$$

In this dissertation I am primarily concerned with infinite dimensional sets and so need an appropriate definition and method of comparing dimensions. Write:

- dim $(E) \prec \varphi$  if  $\mathcal{H}^{\varphi}(E) = 0$
- $\dim(E) \preceq \varphi$  if  $\mathcal{H}^{\varphi}(E)$  is  $\sigma$ -finite

- $\dim(E) \succ \varphi$  if  $\mathcal{H}^{\varphi}(E)$  is non- $\sigma$ -finite
- $\dim(E) \succeq \varphi$  if  $\mathcal{H}^{\varphi}(E) > 0$
- $\dim(E) \asymp \varphi$  if  $\mathcal{H}^{\varphi}(E)$  is positive and  $\sigma$ -finite.

I would like to be able to use these same symbols to compare Hausdorff functions. So write:

• 
$$\varphi \prec \psi$$
 if  $\lim_{t \searrow 0} \frac{\psi(t)}{\varphi(t)} = 0$ 

- $\varphi \preceq \psi$  if  $\limsup_{t \searrow 0} \frac{\psi(t)}{\varphi(t)} < \infty$
- $\varphi \asymp \psi$  if  $0 < \liminf_{t \searrow 0} \frac{\psi(t)}{\varphi(t)} \le \limsup_{t \searrow 0} \frac{\psi(t)}{\varphi(t)} < \infty$ .

The following lemma justifies the common use of these symbols.

**Lemma 2.1.1** If dim $(E) \preceq \varphi \prec \psi$ , then dim $(E) \prec \psi$ .

**Proof:** Assume first that  $\mathcal{H}^{\varphi}(E) < M < \infty$ . Let  $\delta > 0$ , choose  $\varepsilon > 0$  such that  $0 < t \leq \varepsilon$  implies  $\frac{\psi(t)}{\varphi(t)} < \delta/M$ , and choose an  $\varepsilon$ -cover  $\{E_i\}_i$  of E such that  $\sum_i \varphi(\operatorname{diam}(E_i)) < M$ . Then

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{H}^{\psi}_{\varepsilon}(E) &\leq \sum_{i} \psi(\operatorname{diam}(E_{i})) \\ &= \sum_{i} \varphi(\operatorname{diam}(E_{i})) \frac{\psi(\operatorname{diam}(E_{i}))}{\varphi(\operatorname{diam}(E_{i}))} < M \frac{\delta}{M} = \delta \end{aligned}$$

Thus  $\mathcal{H}^{\psi}_{\varepsilon} = 0$  and  $\mathcal{H}^{\psi}(E) = 0$  as  $\varepsilon$  may be chosen arbitrarily small.

If  $\mathcal{H}^{\varphi}(E)$  is  $\sigma$ -finite, then  $E = \bigcup_i E_i$  where  $\mathcal{H}^{\varphi}(E_i) < \infty$  for every *i*. So by the above  $\mathcal{H}^{\psi}(E) \leq \sum_i \mathcal{H}^{\psi}(E_i) = 0.\square$ 

With minor modifications, the above proof shows the following:

- If  $\dim(E) \prec \varphi \preceq \psi$  then  $\dim(E) \prec \psi$
- If  $\dim(E) \prec \varphi \prec \psi$  then  $\dim(E) \prec \psi$
- If  $\dim(E) \preceq \varphi \preceq \psi$  then  $\dim(E) \preceq \psi$

There are reverse inequalities with similar proofs. For example:

**Lemma 2.1.2** If dim $(E) \succeq \varphi \succ \psi$ , then dim $(E) \succ \psi$ .

**Proof:** Let M > 0 and choose  $\varepsilon > 0$  such that  $0 < t < \varepsilon$  implies  $\frac{\psi(t)}{\varphi(t)} > M$ . Then for any  $\varepsilon$ -cover  $\{U_i\}_i$  of E,

$$\sum_{i} \psi(\operatorname{diam}(U_{i})) = \sum_{i} \varphi(\operatorname{diam}(U_{i})) \frac{\psi(\operatorname{diam}(U_{i}))}{\varphi(\operatorname{diam}(U_{i}))} > M\mathcal{H}_{\varepsilon}^{\varphi}(E).$$

Thus for any M > 0,  $\mathcal{H}^{\psi}(E) \ge M \mathcal{H}^{\varphi}(E)$  so  $\mathcal{H}^{\psi}(E) = \infty$ .

To see that  $\mathcal{H}^{\psi}(E)$  is non- $\sigma$ -finite suppose that  $E = \bigcup_i E_i$ . Then  $\mathcal{H}^{\varphi}(E_i) > 0$  for some *i* and so  $\mathcal{H}^{\psi}(E) = \infty$  by the argument above. $\Box$ 

Again a similar proof will show the following:

- If  $\dim(E) \succ \varphi \succeq \psi$  then  $\dim(E) \succ \psi$
- If  $\dim(E) \succ \varphi \succ \psi$  then  $\dim(E) \succ \psi$
- If  $\dim(E) \succeq \varphi \succeq \psi$  then  $\dim(E) \succeq \psi$

 $\Phi$  is a very rich set and the above ordering is by no means total. It is consequently not a tractable problem to understand how dim(E) compares with every  $\varphi \in \Phi$ . What one sometimes does, therefore, is define an appropriate one parameter family,  $\{\varphi_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha>0} \subset \Phi$ , such that  $\alpha < \beta$  implies  $\varphi_{\alpha} \prec \varphi_{\beta}$ . Then there is a critical value  $\alpha_0 \in [0,\infty]$  such that

$$\mathcal{H}^{\varphi_{\alpha}}(E) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } \alpha > \alpha_{0} \\ \infty & \text{if } \alpha < \alpha_{0}. \end{cases}$$

Suppose  $\psi_{\alpha}(t) = t^{\alpha}$ . This family of functions is useful when studying subsets of Euclidean space and  $\mathcal{H}^{\psi_{\alpha}}$  is usually abbreviated  $\mathcal{H}^{\alpha}$ . I have made the claim that in this dissertation I am primarily interested in infinite dimensional metric spaces. I mean by this more precisely that I will be working with metric spaces  $(X, \rho)$  satisfying  $\dim(X) \succ \psi_{\alpha}$  for every  $\alpha > 0$ . It so happens that a useful family of Hausdorff functions for many of the sets that I will be studying is  $\{\psi^{\alpha}\}_{\alpha>0}$  defined by  $\psi^{\alpha}(t) =$  $2^{-1/t^{\alpha}}$ . Another useful family is  $\{\varphi^{\alpha}\}_{\alpha>0}$  defined by  $\varphi^{\alpha}(t) = 2^{-\alpha(1/t^{s})}$  where s > 0 is fixed.

In [Fal2] it is proven that Hausdorff dimension is preserved by bi-Lipschitz transformations. There, however, he is working with the family  $\psi_{\alpha}(t) = t^{\alpha}$ . One needs to be more careful when working with more general functions. The following lemma does hold.

**Lemma 2.1.3** Suppose  $f : X \to X$  is bi-Lipschitz satisfying:

$$r_1\rho(x,y) \le \rho(f(x), f(y)) \le r_2\rho(x,y).$$
 (2.1)

Then

$$\dim(E) \preceq \varphi \implies \dim(f(E)) \preceq \varphi(t/r_2)$$

and

$$\dim(E) \succeq \varphi \Rightarrow \dim(f(E)) \succeq \varphi(t/r_1)$$

**Proof:** If  $\{E_i\}$  is an  $\varepsilon$ -cover of E, then  $\{f(E_i)\}$  is an  $r_2\varepsilon$ -cover of f(E). If in addition  $\sum_i \varphi(\operatorname{diam}(E_i)) < \infty$ , then by the second part of inequality 2.1,

$$\sum_{i} \varphi\left(\frac{\operatorname{diam}(f(E_i))}{r_2}\right) \leq \sum_{i} \varphi\left(\frac{r_2\operatorname{diam}(E_i)}{r_2}\right) < \infty.$$

If  $\sum_{i} \varphi(\operatorname{diam}(E_i)) > c > 0$ , then by the first part of inequality 2.1,

$$\sum_{i} \varphi\left(\frac{\operatorname{diam}(f(E_i))}{r_1}\right) \ge \sum_{i} \varphi\left(\frac{r_1 \operatorname{diam}(E_i)}{r_1}\right) > c.$$

The result follows.  $\Box$ 

Consider, for example, the two parameter family of functions

$$\varphi_{M,\alpha}(t) = 2^{-(M/t)^{\alpha}}$$

For a fixed  $\alpha > 0$  a bi-Lipschitz map with ratios  $r_1$  and  $r_2$  as above can affect the critical value of M. But it can't be raised by more than a factor  $1/r_2$  and it cannot be lowered by more than a factor of  $1/r_1$ . For  $\alpha_1 < \alpha_2$ , however,  $\varphi_{M_1,\alpha_1} \prec \varphi_{M_2,\alpha_2}$  for any  $M_1$  and  $M_2$ . So a bi-Lipschitz map won't have any affect on the critical value of  $\alpha$ .

This bi-Lipschitz invariance of the Hausdorff dimension is due to its dependence on the metric structure of the set in question. This is a general feature of fractal dimensions and lemmas similar to 2.1.3 hold for all the notions of dimension discussed here.

#### 2.1.2 The Packing and Centered Covering Dimensions

The packing measure and dimension were introduced by Taylor and Tricot [Tr, TayTr] as notions (almost) dual to the Hausdorff measure and dimension. Equality of the

Hausdorff and packing dimensions of a set imply some regularity properties for the set. The centered covering measure and dimension were introduced by St. Raymond and Tricot [RayTr] as notions precisely dual to the packing measure and dimension. In these papers it is assumed that Hausdorff functions are *blanketed*. That is  $\limsup_{t \to 0} \varphi(2t)/\varphi(t) < \infty$ . This is tantamount to restricting to the finite dimensional case as the following lemma shows.

Lemma 2.1.4 If  $\limsup_{t \ge 0} \varphi(2t)/\varphi(t) < \infty$ , then there is an  $\alpha > 0$  such that  $\varphi \prec t^{\alpha}$ . **Proof:** Choose  $t_0 > 0$  such that  $0 < t < t_0$  implies  $\varphi(2t)/\varphi(t) < M < \infty$ . Then for  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

$$\frac{1}{\varphi(2^{-n}t_0)} = \frac{\varphi(2^{-n+1}t_0)}{\varphi(2^{-n}t_0)} \frac{\varphi(2^{-n+2}t_0)}{\varphi(2^{-n+1}t_0)} \cdots \frac{\varphi(t_0)}{\varphi(2^{-1}t_0)} \frac{1}{\varphi(t_0)} \\
\leq M^n \frac{1}{\varphi(t_0)}.$$

Thus for  $2^{-n}t_0 < t \leq 2^{-n+1}t_0$ ,

$$\frac{t^{\alpha}}{\varphi(t)} \le \frac{(2^{-n+1}t_0)^{\alpha}}{\varphi(2^{-n}t_0)} \le 2^{\alpha} \left(M2^{-\alpha}\right)^n \frac{t_0^{\alpha}}{\varphi(t_0)}.$$

Now as  $t \searrow 0, n \to \infty$ . Thus  $\frac{t^{\alpha}}{\varphi(t)} \to 0$  whenever  $\alpha$  is large enough so that  $M2^{-\alpha} < 1.\square$ 

I'll now define the centered covering and packing measures and investigate the relationships between these quantities and the Hausdorff measure. Of course, I will not assume that my Hausdorff functions are blanketed. This will not affect the definitions, but will slightly alter the comparison theorems.

The centered covering  $\varphi$ -measure is very similar to the Hausdorff measure. Rather than covering the set  $E \subset X$  with arbitrary sets, however, we cover E with closed balls centered in E. We then measure the size of these balls using their radius rather than their diameter. Thus define a *centered*  $\varepsilon$ -cover of E to be a finite or countable collection of closed balls  $\{B_{r_i}(x_i)\}_i$  such that  $x_i \in E$  and  $2r_i \leq \varepsilon$  for every i. Then let

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{\mathcal{C}}_{\varepsilon}^{\varphi}(E) &= \inf \left\{ \sum_{i} \varphi(2r_{i}) : \{ B_{r_{i}}(x_{i}) \}_{i=1}^{\infty} \text{ is a centered } \varepsilon \text{-cover of } E \right\}, \\ \widetilde{\mathcal{C}}^{\varphi}(E) &= \lim_{\varepsilon \searrow 0} \widetilde{\mathcal{C}}_{\varepsilon}^{\varphi}(E). \end{split}$$

As with the Hausdorff measure this is a well-defined limit. However, a centered cover of E may not be a centered cover of some  $F \subset E$ . Because of this it is possible to have  $F \subset E$  with  $\tilde{C}^{\varphi}(F) > \tilde{C}^{\varphi}(E)$ . So  $\tilde{C}^{\varphi}$  is not an outer measure. Therefore define

$$\mathcal{C}^{\varphi}(E) = \sup_{F \subset E} \widetilde{\mathcal{C}}^{\varphi}(F).$$

It is proved in [RayTr] that  $C^{\varphi}$  is a metric outer measure and I will also denote by  $C^{\varphi}$  the restriction of  $C^{\varphi}$  to the  $C^{\varphi}$ -measurable sets.

For the packing  $\varphi$ -measure, rather than covering E and taking an infimum, one packs E with disjoint closed balls and takes a supremum. More precisely, for  $\varepsilon > 0$  an  $\varepsilon$ -packing of E will be a finite or countable collection of disjoint closed balls  $\{B_{r_i}(x_i)\}_i$ such that  $x_i \in E$  and  $2r_i \leq \varepsilon$  for every i. Then let

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{\mathcal{P}}_{\varepsilon}^{\varphi}(E) &= \sup \left\{ \sum_{i} \varphi(2r_{i}) : \{ B_{r_{i}}(x_{i}) \}_{i} \text{ is an } \varepsilon \text{-packing of } E \right\}, \\ \widetilde{\mathcal{P}}^{\varphi}(E) &= \lim_{\varepsilon \searrow 0} \widetilde{\mathcal{P}}_{\varepsilon}^{\varphi}(E). \end{split}$$

This time the limit exists because as  $\varepsilon$  decreases  $\widetilde{\mathcal{P}}^{\varphi}_{\varepsilon}(E)$  decreases as well.

We shall see shortly that  $\tilde{\mathcal{P}}^{\varphi}$  is not sub- $\sigma$ -additive and, so, not an outer measure. So, for  $\sigma$ -totally bounded  $E \subset X$  define

$$\mathcal{P}^{\varphi}(E) = \inf \left\{ \sum_{i} \widetilde{\mathcal{P}}^{\varphi}(E_{i}) : E \subset \cup_{i} E_{i} \right\}.$$

Note that although  $\tilde{\mathcal{P}}^{\varphi}$  is not an outer measure, it is finitely subadditive and monotone. That is if  $E \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} E_i$ , then  $\tilde{\mathcal{P}}^{\varphi}(E) \leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} \tilde{\mathcal{P}}^{\varphi}(E_i)$  and if  $F \subset E$ , then  $\tilde{\mathcal{P}}^{\varphi}(F) \leq \tilde{\mathcal{P}}^{\varphi}(E)$ . Both these statements follow immediately from the fact that a packing of a subset of E is also a packing of E. Also note that  $\mathcal{P}^{\varphi}$  is finite for a broader class of sets than  $\tilde{\mathcal{P}}^{\varphi}$ . If E is  $\sigma$ -totally bounded, but not totally bounded then  $\tilde{\mathcal{P}}^{\varphi}(E) = \infty$  for any  $\varphi \in \Phi$ . Next I will show that  $\tilde{\mathcal{P}}^{\varphi}$  respects closure. That is  $\tilde{\mathcal{P}}^{\varphi}(E) = \tilde{\mathcal{P}}^{\varphi}(\overline{E})$ . Thus we may assume that the  $E_i$ 's above are closed sets.

**Lemma 2.1.5** For all totally bounded sets  $E, \tilde{\mathcal{P}}^{\varphi}(E) = \tilde{\mathcal{P}}^{\varphi}(\overline{E}).$ 

**Proof:** If  $\{B_{r_i}(x_i)\}_i$  is an  $\varepsilon$ -packing of  $\overline{E}$ , then we may choose an  $\varepsilon$ -packing  $\{B_{r'_i}(x'_i)\}_i$ of E with  $\rho(x_i, x'_i)$  and  $r_i - r'_i > 0$  as small as we like. Thus  $\sum_i \varphi(2r_i) - \sum_i \varphi(2r'_i) > 0$ may be made as small as we like. So  $\tilde{\mathcal{P}}^{\varphi}(E) = \tilde{\mathcal{P}}^{\varphi}(\overline{E})$ .  $\Box$ 

The following example illustrates how the lack of sub- $\sigma$ -additivity of  $\tilde{\mathcal{P}}^{\varphi}$  extends into the infinite dimensional realm.

**Example 2.1.1** Let  $\varphi \in \Phi$  and  $a_n \in \varphi^{-1}(\{1/n\})$ . Note that  $a_n \searrow 0$ . Let  $X = \{x_0, x_1, x_2, \dots, x_\infty\}$  be a countable set. Define a metric  $\rho$  on X by

$$\rho(x_n, x_m) = \begin{cases} a_n & \text{if } n \neq m = \infty \\ a_n + a_m & \text{if } \infty \neq n \neq m \neq \infty \\ 0 & \text{if } n = m. \end{cases}$$

Of course, X is a countable union of singletons each satisfying  $\tilde{\mathcal{P}}^{\varphi}(\{x_n\}) = 0$ . However, if  $a_{n+1} < \varepsilon \leq a_n$ , then considering the packing with n + 1 balls of radius  $\varepsilon/2$ centered at  $x_0, x_1, \ldots, x_n$  we get

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{P}}_{\varepsilon}^{\varphi}(X) \ge (n+1)\varphi\left(2\frac{\varepsilon}{2}\right) \ge \frac{n+1}{n+1} = 1.$$

Thus  $\widetilde{\mathcal{P}}^{\varphi}(X) \geq 1$ .

All the quantities introduced so far reflect the asymptotic properties of  $\varphi(t)$  as  $t \searrow 0$  in a way similar to lemma 2.1.1. There is also the bi-Lipschitz equivalence as in lemma 2.1.3. The proofs are all similar. There are also relationships between these quantities as the following theorem states.

**Theorem 2.1.1** Suppose that  $\tau, \varphi, \psi \in \Phi$  satisfy

$$\limsup_{t \searrow 0} \frac{\tau(2t)}{\varphi(t)} < A < \infty, \quad \limsup_{t \searrow 0} \frac{\varphi(2t)}{\psi(t)} < M < \infty.$$
(2.2)

Then for  $E \subset X$ ,

$$\frac{1}{A}\mathcal{C}^{\tau}(E) \leq \mathcal{H}^{\varphi}(E) \leq \widetilde{\mathcal{C}}^{\varphi}(E) \leq \mathcal{C}^{\varphi}(E) \leq M\mathcal{P}^{\psi}(E) \leq M\widetilde{\mathcal{P}}^{\psi}(E)$$

**Proof:** I first prove  $\frac{1}{A}\tilde{\mathcal{C}}^{\tau}(F) \leq \mathcal{H}^{\varphi}(F)$  for every  $F \subset E$ . Let  $F \subset E$ , let  $\varepsilon > 0$  be small enough so that  $0 < t \leq \varepsilon$  implies  $\tau(2t) \leq A\varphi(t)$ , and choose an  $\varepsilon$ -cover  $\{E_i\}_i$ of F. We may assume that  $E_i \cap F \neq \emptyset$  for all i. Choose for every i an  $x_i \in E_i \cap F$ . Then  $\{B_{\operatorname{diam}(E_i)}(x_i)\}_i$  forms a centered  $2\varepsilon$ -cover of F. Now by the first inequality in 2.2,

$$\sum_{i} \tau(2\operatorname{diam}(E_i)) \le A \sum_{i} \varphi(\operatorname{diam}(E_i)).$$

So  $\widetilde{\mathcal{C}}_{2\varepsilon}^{\tau}(F) \leq A\mathcal{H}_{\varepsilon}^{\varphi}(F)$  and  $\frac{1}{A}\widetilde{\mathcal{C}}^{\tau}(F) \leq \mathcal{H}^{\varphi}(F)$ . Now  $\mathcal{H}^{\varphi}$  is monotone so

$$\frac{1}{A}\mathcal{C}^{\tau}(E) = \frac{1}{A} \sup_{F \subset E} \widetilde{\mathcal{C}}^{\tau}(F) \leq \sup_{F \subset E} \mathcal{H}^{\varphi}(F) = \mathcal{H}^{\varphi}(E).$$

 $\mathcal{H}^{\varphi}(E) \leq \tilde{\mathcal{C}}^{\varphi}(E) \leq \mathcal{C}^{\varphi}(E)$  is immediate. For the remaining inequalities, it suffices to prove that  $\tilde{\mathcal{C}}^{\varphi}(E) \leq M \tilde{\mathcal{P}}^{\psi}(E)$ . If this is the case then, by the monotonicity of  $\tilde{\mathcal{P}}^{\varphi}$ , for  $F \subset E$ ,

$$\tilde{\mathcal{C}}^{\varphi}(F) \le M \tilde{\mathcal{P}}^{\psi}(F) \le M \tilde{\mathcal{P}}^{\psi}(E).$$

Thus  $\mathcal{C}^{\varphi}(E) \leq M \widetilde{\mathcal{P}}^{\psi}(E)$  upon taking supremums. Next, if  $E = \bigcup_i E_i$ , then

$$\mathcal{C}^{\varphi}(E) \leq \sum_{i} \mathcal{C}^{\varphi}(E_{i}) \leq M \sum_{i} \widetilde{\mathcal{P}}^{\psi}(E_{i}).$$

Thus  $\mathcal{C}^{\varphi}(E) \leq M \mathcal{P}^{\psi}(E)$  upon taking infimums.

So finally I show that  $\tilde{\mathcal{C}}^{\varphi}(E) \leq M \tilde{\mathcal{P}}^{\psi}(E)$ . We may assume that  $\tilde{\mathcal{P}}^{\psi}(E) < \infty$  which implies that E is totally bounded. By the second inequality of 2.2, we may choose  $\varepsilon > 0$  small enough so that  $0 < t \leq \varepsilon$  implies  $\varphi(2t) < M\psi(t)$  and let  $\{B_{\varepsilon/2}(x_i)\}_{i=1}^n$  be an  $\varepsilon$ -packing of E maximal in the sense that for any  $x \in E$ ,  $B_{\varepsilon/2}(x) \cap B_{\varepsilon/2}(x_i) \neq \emptyset$ for some i. Then  $\{B_{\varepsilon}(x_i)\}_{i=1}^n$  is a  $2\varepsilon$ -cover of E and

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \varphi(2\varepsilon) \le M \sum_{i=1}^{n} \psi(\varepsilon).$$

So  $\tilde{\mathcal{C}}_{2\varepsilon}^{\varphi}(E) \leq M \tilde{\mathcal{P}}_{\varepsilon}^{\psi}(E)$  and  $\tilde{\mathcal{C}}^{\varphi}(E) \leq M \tilde{\mathcal{P}}^{\psi}(E)$  upon letting  $\varepsilon \searrow 0.\square$ 

#### 2.2 The Entropy Dimensions

In this sections I define the entropy dimensions in terms of the earlier notion of an entropy index. The entropy indices seem to have been introduced by a number of different authors. The earliest references I am aware of are [Bou] and [PonSc]. They were generalized and studied in function space in [KolTi]. The modification to obtain the entropy dimensions goes back at least to [Weg].

The basic idea for the entropy indices is to introduce for a totally bounded subset  $E \subset X$  and  $\varepsilon > 0$  a quantity  $N_{\varepsilon}(E)$  which behaves asymptotically as  $\varepsilon \searrow 0$  in a way indicative of the dimension of E. Here define

$$N_{\varepsilon}(E) = \max \text{ number of closed disjoint } \frac{\varepsilon}{2} \text{-balls centered in } E,$$

where  $\varepsilon/2$  refers to the radius of the ball. Then, if  $I^n$  is an *n*-dimensional cube,  $N_{\varepsilon}(I^n) \asymp (1/\varepsilon)^n$  ([KolTi] sec.4). I will be interested in comparing  $N_{\varepsilon}(E)$  with more general Hausdorff functions. So for  $\varphi \in \Phi$  write:

- $\Delta(E) \prec \varphi$  if  $\limsup_{\varepsilon \searrow 0} \varphi(\varepsilon) N_{\varepsilon}(E) = 0$
- $\Delta(E) \succ \varphi$  if  $\limsup_{\varepsilon \searrow 0} \varphi(\varepsilon) N_{\varepsilon}(E) = \infty$ .
- $\Delta(E) \preceq \varphi$  if  $\limsup_{\varepsilon \searrow 0} \varphi(\varepsilon) N_{\varepsilon}(E) < \infty$ .
- $\Delta(E) \succeq \varphi$  if  $\limsup_{\varepsilon \searrow 0} \varphi(\varepsilon) N_{\varepsilon}(E) > 0$ .
- $\Delta(E) \asymp \varphi$  if  $0 < \limsup_{\varepsilon \searrow 0} \varphi(\varepsilon) N_{\varepsilon}(E) < \infty$ .

This defines the upper entropy index,  $\Delta$ , through comparison of  $N_{\varepsilon}$  with Hausdorff functions using the lim sup. The lower entropy index,  $\delta$ , is similar but we use the lim inf. Thus:

•  $\delta(E) \prec \varphi$  if  $\liminf_{\varepsilon \searrow 0} \varphi(\varepsilon) N_{\varepsilon}(E) = 0$ 

•  $\delta(E) \succ \varphi$  if  $\liminf_{\varepsilon \searrow 0} \varphi(\varepsilon) N_{\varepsilon}(E) = \infty$ .

and similarly for  $\leq, \geq$ , and  $\approx$ .

As we shall see,  $\Delta$  is closely related to  $\widetilde{\mathcal{P}}^{\varphi}$  and suffers from defects related to  $\widetilde{\mathcal{P}}^{\varphi}$ 's lack of sub- $\sigma$ -additivity. We therefore modify the definition to obtain the *upper* entropy dimension  $\widehat{\Delta}$  as follows. By a decomposition of E, I mean a finite or countable collection of sets  $\{E_i\}_i$  whose union is E. Write:

- $\widehat{\Delta}(E) \prec \varphi$  (resp.  $\widehat{\Delta}(E) \preceq \varphi$ ) if there is a decomposition  $E = \bigcup_i E_i$  so that  $\Delta(E_i) \prec \varphi$  (resp.  $\Delta(E_i) \preceq \varphi$ ) for every *i*
- $\hat{\Delta}(E) \succ \varphi$  (resp.  $\hat{\Delta}(E) \succeq \varphi$ ) if for every decomposition  $E = \bigcup_i E_i$  there is an i so that  $\Delta(E_i) \succ \varphi$  (resp. $\Delta(E_i) \succeq \varphi$ ).

Similar definitions may be made to define  $\hat{\delta}$  in terms of  $\delta$ .

Some comments on these definitions are in order:

- Since a packing by ε/2-balls of a subset of E is also one of E, Δ, Δ̂, δ, and δ̂ are all monotone. That is if F ⊂ E, then Δ(E) ≺ φ implies Δ(F) ≺ φ and Δ(E) ≤ φ implies Δ(F) ≤ φ.
- 2. Although  $\Delta$  and  $\delta$  are defined only for totally bounded sets,  $\hat{\Delta}$  and  $\hat{\delta}$  are defined for  $\sigma$ -totally bounded sets.
- 3.  $\Delta$  and  $\delta$  respect closure. The proof is similar to lemma 2.1.5 We may therefore assume that the  $E_i$ 's in the definition of  $\hat{\Delta}$  and  $\hat{\delta}$  are closed.

The concept of  $\sigma$ -stability is a property of  $\widehat{\Delta}$  and  $\widehat{\delta}$  defined by the following lemma.

**Lemma 2.2.1** Suppose that  $E = \bigcup_n E_n$ . Then  $\widehat{\Delta}(E_n) \prec \varphi$  for every *n* implies  $\widehat{\Delta}(E) \prec \varphi$ .  $\widehat{\Delta}(E) \succ \varphi$  implies there is an *n* such that  $\widehat{\Delta}(E_n) \succ \varphi$ . Similar statements hold with  $\widehat{\delta}, \succeq$ , or  $\preceq$  replacing  $\widehat{\Delta}, \succ$ , or  $\prec$  respectively.

**Proof:** For the first part, if  $\widehat{\Delta}(E_n) \prec \varphi$  for every *n*, then each  $E_n$  may be decomposed  $E_n = \bigcup_i E_{n,i}$  where  $\Delta(E_{n,i}) \prec \varphi$  for every *i*. Then  $E = \bigcup_n \bigcup_i E_{n,i}$  is a decomposition of *E* implying  $\widehat{\Delta}(E) \prec \varphi$ .

For the second part, suppose that each  $E_n$  is further decomposed  $E_n = \bigcup_k E_{n,k}$ . Then  $E = \bigcup_n \bigcup_k E_{n,k}$ . Since  $\widehat{\Delta}(E) \succ \varphi$ , there are *n* and *k* such that  $\Delta(E_{n,k}) \succ \varphi$ .  $E_{n,k}$  is part of an arbitrary decomposition of  $E_n$ . This says that this *n* satisfies  $\widehat{\Delta}(E_n) \succ \varphi$ . The other proofs are similar. $\Box$ 

**Example 2.2.1** Let  $\varphi \in \Phi$  and let  $(X, \rho)$  be the corresponding metric space as in example 2.1.1. Then the same argument used there shows that  $\Delta(X) \succ \varphi$  and even that  $\delta(X) \succ \varphi$ . So  $\delta$  and  $\Delta$  are not  $\sigma$ -stable as X is countable.

Next I investigate the relationship between  $\Delta$  and  $\tilde{\mathcal{P}}^{\varphi}$ . Let  $\varphi \in \Phi$ . A blanketing sequence for  $\varphi$  is a sequence  $a_n \searrow 0$  such that  $\varphi(a_n) \leq 2\varphi(a_{n+1})$ . Given  $\varphi \in \Phi$  such a sequence may always be chosen recursively.

**Theorem 2.2.1** Let  $E \subset X$  be totally bounded. Then  $\tilde{\mathcal{P}}^{\varphi}(E) < \infty$  implies  $\Delta(E) \preceq \varphi$ . Conversely, suppose that  $(a_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is a blanketing sequence for  $\varphi$  and

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\psi(a_n)}{\varphi(a_n)} < \infty.$$
(2.3)

Then  $\Delta(E) \preceq \varphi$  implies  $\tilde{\mathcal{P}}^{\psi}(E) = 0$ .

**Proof:** For the first statement note that for  $\varepsilon > 0$  we have  $N_{\varepsilon}(E)\varphi(\varepsilon) \leq \tilde{\mathcal{P}}_{\varepsilon}^{\varphi}(E)$  since the supremum on the right is taken over more possible packings than the one on the left. So if  $\tilde{\mathcal{P}}_{\varepsilon}^{\varphi}(E) \to \tilde{\mathcal{P}}^{\varphi}(E) < \infty$ , then  $\Delta(E) \preceq \varphi$ .

For the second statement let  $\delta > 0$  and choose  $\varepsilon_0, M > 0$  such that  $0 < \varepsilon \leq \varepsilon_0$ implies  $N_{\varepsilon}(E)\varphi(\varepsilon) < M$ . Choose  $n_0 \in \mathbb{N}$  large enough so that  $a_{n_0} \leq \varepsilon_0$  and

$$\sum_{n=n_0}^{\infty} \frac{\psi(a_n)}{\varphi(a_n)} < \frac{\delta}{2M}.$$

Let  $\varepsilon \in (0, a_{n_0}]$  and choose an  $\varepsilon$ -packing  $\mathcal{B}$  of E. For  $n \ge n_0$  let  $\mathcal{B}_n = \{B_r(x) \in \mathcal{B} : a_{n+1} < 2r \le a_n\}$ . Note that  $\#(\mathcal{B}_n) \le N_{a_{n+1}}(E)$ . So by these choices and inequality 2.3,

$$\sum_{B_r(x)\in\mathcal{B}}\psi(2r) = \sum_{n=n_0}^{\infty}\sum_{B_r(x)\in\mathcal{B}_n}\psi(2r) \le \sum_{n=n_0}^{\infty}N_{a_{n+1}}(E)\psi(a_n)$$
$$= \sum_{n=n_0}^{\infty}N_{a_{n+1}}(E)\varphi(a_{n+1})\frac{\psi(a_n)}{\varphi(a_n)}\frac{\varphi(a_n)}{\varphi(a_{n+1})}$$
$$\le 2M\sum_{n=n_0}^{\infty}\frac{\psi(a_n)}{\varphi(a_n)} < 2M\frac{\delta}{2M} = \delta.$$

Thus  $\tilde{\mathcal{P}}^{\psi}_{\varepsilon}(E) = 0$  as  $\delta > 0$  was arbitrary. Since this is true for every  $\varepsilon > 0$  we have  $\tilde{\mathcal{P}}^{\psi}(E) = 0.\Box$ 

This theorem says that the upper entropy index and the packing premeasure lead to almost the same notion of dimension. When working with a family of Hausdorff functions  $(\psi_s)_{s>0}$  the packing premeasure and upper entropy index will frequently lead to the same critical value. For example if  $\psi_s(\varepsilon) = \varepsilon^s$ , then  $a_n = 2^{-(n/s)}$  defines a blanketing sequence for  $\psi_s$ . If s < t, then

$$\sum_{n} \frac{\psi_t(a_n)}{\psi_s(a_n)} = \sum_{n} 2^{n(1-(t/s))} < \infty.$$

And so the packing premeasure and upper entropy index lead to the same critical value for the family  $(\psi_s)_{s>0}$ . More precisely

$$\sup\{s > 0 : \widetilde{\mathcal{P}}^{\psi_s}(E) = \infty\} = \sup\{s > 0 : \Delta(E) \succ \psi_s\}.$$

As another example, suppose  $\psi^{\alpha}(\varepsilon) = 2^{-\alpha(1/\varepsilon)^s}$ . Then  $a_n = (\frac{\alpha}{n})^{1/s}$  is a blanketing sequence for  $(\psi^{\alpha})_{\alpha>0}$ . If  $\alpha < \beta$ , then

$$\sum_{n} \frac{\psi^{\beta}(a_{n})}{\psi^{\alpha}(a_{n})} = \sum_{n} \frac{2^{-\beta((n/\alpha)^{1/s})^{s}}}{2^{-\alpha((n/\alpha)^{1/s})^{s}}} = \sum_{n} 2^{n(1-(\beta/\alpha))} < \infty$$

So again the upper entropy index and packing premeasure lead to the same critical value for the family  $(\psi^{\alpha})_{\alpha>0}$ .

More important is the close relationship between the upper entropy dimension and the packing dimension stated in the following theorem.

**Theorem 2.2.2** Let  $E \subset X$  be  $\sigma$ -totally bounded. If  $\mathcal{P}^{\varphi}(E)$  is  $\sigma$ -finite and  $\varphi \preceq \psi$ , then  $\widehat{\Delta}(E) \preceq \psi$ . Conversely, if  $(a_n)_n$  is a blanketing sequence for  $\varphi$  and

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\psi(a_n)}{\varphi(a_n)} < \infty,$$

then  $\widehat{\Delta}(E) \preceq \varphi$  implies  $\mathcal{P}^{\psi}(E) = 0$ .

**Proof:** For the first part, assume first that  $\mathcal{P}^{\varphi}(E) < M < \infty$ . Then there is a decomposition  $E = \bigcup_i E_i$  where  $\sum_i \tilde{\mathcal{P}}^{\varphi}(E_i) < M$ . So  $\tilde{\mathcal{P}}^{\varphi}(E_i) < M$  for every *i*. Since  $N_{\varepsilon}(E_i)\varphi(\varepsilon) \leq \tilde{\mathcal{P}}^{\varphi}_{\varepsilon}(E_i)$ , we have

$$\limsup_{\varepsilon \searrow 0} N_{\varepsilon}(E_i)\varphi(\varepsilon) \le \lim_{\varepsilon \searrow 0} \widetilde{\mathcal{P}}_{\varepsilon}^{\varphi}(E_i) < M.$$

$$\limsup_{\varepsilon \searrow 0} N_{\varepsilon}(E_{i})\psi(\varepsilon) = \limsup_{\varepsilon \searrow 0} N_{\varepsilon}(E)\varphi(\varepsilon)\frac{\psi(\varepsilon)}{\varphi(\varepsilon)}$$
$$\leq M\limsup_{\varepsilon \searrow 0} \frac{\psi(\varepsilon)}{\varphi(\varepsilon)} < \infty.$$

So  $\widehat{\Delta}(E) \preceq \psi$ . If  $\mathcal{P}^{\varphi}(E)$  is  $\sigma$ -finite, then  $E = \bigcup_n E_n$  where  $\mathcal{P}^{\varphi}(E_n) < \infty$  for every n. So  $\widehat{\Delta}(E_n) \preceq \psi$  for every n by the above and  $\widehat{\Delta}(E) \preceq \psi$  by  $\sigma$ -stability (lemma 2.2.1).

For the second part, if  $\widehat{\Delta}(E) \preceq \varphi$ , then there is a decomposition  $E = \bigcup_i E_i$  such that  $\Delta(E_i) \preceq \varphi$  for every *i*. So  $\widetilde{\mathcal{P}}^{\psi}(E_i) = 0$  by theorem 2.2.1 and

$$\mathcal{P}^{\psi}(E) \leq \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \widetilde{\mathcal{P}}^{\psi}(E_i) = 0.\square$$

## CHAPTER III

### **Computational Methods**

The definitions of the preceding chapter are useful theoretically, but cumbersome computationally. In this chapter, I'll develop some computational tools and illustrate them with some simple examples. As shown in theorems 2.1.1, 2.2.1, and 2.2.2, many definitions of dimension are essentially equivalent to others. From this point on, I will concentrate on the Hausdorff and upper entropy dimensions. Conclusions about other dimensions may be drawn using the appropriate comparison theorem 2.1.1, 2.2.1, or 2.2.2.

#### 3.1 Sequence Spaces

I begin by introducing a family of compact, totally disconnected metric spaces which are relatively easy to deal with and will aid in later analysis. For  $k \in \mathbb{N}^+$  let  $a_k \in \mathbb{N}^+$ , let  $A_k = \{1, \ldots, a_k\}$  be a discrete set, and let  $\Omega = \prod_{j=1}^{\infty} A_j$ . Thus  $\sigma = (\sigma_j)_{j=1}^{\infty} \in \Omega$  if  $\sigma_j \in A_j$  for every j. I will define a metric d on  $\Omega$  inducing the product topology on  $\Omega$ . First I develop some useful notation. Given  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  an *initial segment* of length n is a finite sequence  $\alpha = (\alpha_j)_{j=1}^n$  with  $\alpha_j \in A_j$  for every  $j = 1, \ldots, n$ . There is by definition one initial segment of length zero namely the empty segment denoted  $\Lambda$ . If  $\alpha$  is an initial segment, write  $|\alpha|$  to denote the length of  $\alpha$ . For  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , let  $\Omega^n$ denote the set of all initial segments of length n. Let  $\Omega^* = \bigcup_{j=0}^{\infty} \Omega^j$  be the set of all initial segments. If  $\sigma \in \Omega$  write  $\sigma|_n$  for the initial segment  $(\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_n) \in \Omega^n$ . We may put a partial order on  $\Omega^*$  as follows: For  $\alpha, \beta \in \Omega^*$ , say  $\alpha = (\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_j)$  and  $\beta = (\beta_1, \ldots, \beta_k)$ , write  $\alpha < \beta$  if j < k and  $\alpha_i = \beta_i$  for  $i = 1, \ldots, j$ . If  $\alpha < \beta$ , then  $\beta$ is said to be a descendant of  $\alpha$ . If  $\alpha \in \Omega^n$ , then let  $\alpha^-$  denote the unique element of  $\Omega^{n-1}$  such that  $\alpha^- < \alpha$ .  $\alpha^-$  is called the *parent* and  $\alpha$  the *child*. Also if  $\alpha \in \Omega^n$  is an initial segment, then let

$$[\alpha] = \{ \sigma \in \Omega : \sigma_i = \alpha_i \text{ for } i = 1, \dots, n \}.$$

To define a metric d on  $\Omega$  associate to each  $\alpha \in \Omega^*$  a number  $r(\alpha) > 0$  satisfying the following:

- 1.  $r(\Lambda) > 0$ ,
- 2.  $r(\beta) < r(\alpha)$  whenever  $\beta > \alpha$ ,
- 3.  $r(\sigma|_n) \to 0$  as  $n \to \infty$ .

If  $\sigma, \tau \in \Omega$  have  $\alpha$  as their longest common initial segment then define  $d(\sigma, \tau) = r(\alpha)$ . Define, also,  $d(\sigma, \sigma) = 0$ . Then d is a metric inducing the product topology on  $\Omega$ . For details see [Ed1]. Note that if  $\sigma, \tau \in \Omega$  and  $r(\sigma|_n) \leq \varepsilon < r(\sigma|_{n-1})$ , then  $\rho(\sigma, \tau) \leq \varepsilon$  is equivalent to  $\sigma_i = \tau_i$  for i = 1, ..., n. Thus  $B_{\varepsilon}(\sigma) = [\sigma|_n]$ .

There are two specific types of sequence spaces which will be of particular interest here. For the first, let s > 0 and let  $A_k = \{1, \ldots, 2^{2^{k-1}}\}$ . Choose  $r \in (0, 1)$  such that  $1/r^s = 2$ . If  $\alpha \in \Omega^n$ , define  $r(\alpha) = r^n$ . The resulting sequence space will be called infinite s-space. We will see in the following sections that an appropriate Hausdorff function to describe the dimension of this space is given by  $\psi^s(\varepsilon) = 2^{-(1/\varepsilon)^s}$ .

The other case of interest has been used in the analysis of self-similar sets (see [Ed1]). Let  $m \in \mathbb{N}$  be fixed and let  $A_k = \{1, \ldots, m\}$  for every k. Let  $(r_1, \ldots, r_m)$  satisfy  $0 < r_i < 1$  for every  $i = 1, \ldots, m$ . Such a list is called a *contraction ratio* list. For  $\alpha \in \Omega^n$ , let  $r(\alpha) = \prod_{i=1}^n r_{\alpha_i}$ . In [Ed1] it is shown that the dimension of this sequence space is given by  $\psi_s(\varepsilon) = \varepsilon^s$ , where  $\sum_{i=1}^m r_i^s = 1$ . In fact it is shown that

$$\mathcal{H}^s([\alpha]) = r(\alpha)^s \tag{3.1}$$

for every  $\alpha \in \Omega^*$ . This space is called *self-similar sequence space* and I will be using it when studying hyperspaces.

#### **3.2** Calculation of the Entropy Dimensions

In this section I will calculate the entropy dimensions for infinite s-space. To estimate the entropy indices of a totally bounded set E it is necessary to obtain upper and lower bounds for  $N_{\varepsilon}(E)$ . As  $N_{\varepsilon}$  is defined in terms of a supremum, it is relatively easy to find a lower bound, but frequently difficult to find an upper bound. The special nature of sequence space alleviates this problem somewhat.

**Theorem 3.2.1** Fix s > 0, choose  $r \in (0, 1)$  so that  $r^{-s} = 2$ , and let  $(\Omega, \rho)$  be the corresponding infinite s-space. Then  $\Delta(\Omega) \asymp \psi^s(r\varepsilon/2)$ , where  $\psi^s(\varepsilon) = 2^{-(1/\varepsilon)^s}$ .

24

**Proof:** Suppose  $2r^k \leq \varepsilon < 2r^{k-1}$ . I claim then that  $N_{\varepsilon}(\Omega) = 2^{2^{k-1}}$ . This is because every ball of radius  $\varepsilon/2 \in [r^k, r^{k-1})$  is of the form  $[\alpha]$  for some  $\alpha \in \Omega^k$ . Furthermore if  $\alpha, \beta \in \Omega^k$  then  $[\alpha] \cap [\beta] = \emptyset$ . So

$$N_{\varepsilon}(\Omega) = \#(\Omega^{k}) = \prod_{i=1}^{k} \#(A_{k}) = \prod_{i=1}^{k} 2^{2^{k-1}}$$
$$= 2^{2^{k-1}+2^{k-2}+\dots+1} = 2^{2^{k}-1}.$$

 $\mathbf{So}$ 

$$N_{\varepsilon}(\Omega)\psi^{s}(r\varepsilon/2) = 2^{2^{k}-1}2^{-(2/r\varepsilon)^{s}} \le 2^{2^{k}-1}2^{-(2/2r^{k})^{s}} = 2^{2^{k}-1}2^{-2^{k}} = \frac{1}{2}$$

Thus  $\limsup_{\varepsilon \to 0} N_{\varepsilon}(\Omega) \psi^s(r\varepsilon/2) \leq \frac{1}{2}$  and  $\Delta(\Omega) \preceq \psi^s(r\varepsilon/2)$ .

For the lower bound, choose for every  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  an  $\varepsilon_k \in [2r^k, 2r^{k-1})$  so that  $\psi^s(r\varepsilon_k/2)$  $\geq \frac{1}{2}\psi^s(r^k)$ . Then

$$N_{\varepsilon_k}(\Omega)\psi^s(r\varepsilon_k/2) \ge 2^{2^k-1}2^{-(1/r^k)^s-1} = \frac{1}{4}$$

and

$$\limsup_{\varepsilon \to 0} N_{\varepsilon}(\Omega) \psi^{s}(r\varepsilon/2) \geq \limsup_{k \to \infty} N_{\varepsilon_{k}}(\Omega) \psi^{s}(r\varepsilon_{k}/2) \geq \frac{1}{4}$$

Thus  $\Delta(\Omega) \succeq \psi^s(r\varepsilon/2)$  and  $\Delta(\Omega) \asymp \psi^s(r\varepsilon/2) \Box$ .

A similar proof shows that  $\delta(\Omega) \asymp \psi^s(\varepsilon/2)$ . Note that  $\psi^s(\varepsilon/2) \prec \psi^s(r\varepsilon/2)$ .

Next, we need to pass from the entropy index to the entropy dimension. Clearly if  $\Delta(E) \preceq \varphi$ , then  $\widehat{\Delta}(E) \preceq \varphi$ , since (E) is a decomposition of E. A similar statement holds with  $\preceq$  replaced by  $\prec$ . The key to getting lower bounds on  $\widehat{\Delta}$  is in the next lemma.

**Lemma 3.2.1** Suppose that E is a closed subset of the complete metric space Xand  $\Delta(E \cap U) \succeq \varphi$  for every open set  $U \subset X$ . Then  $\widehat{\Delta}(E) \succeq \varphi$ . A similar statement holds with  $\succeq$  replaced by  $\succ$ .

**Proof:** Let  $(E_i)_i$  be a decomposition of E by closed sets. As E is a closed subset of a complete metric space, we may apply the Baire category theorem to obtain an  $E_i$ which is somewhere dense in E. This means there is an open set  $U \subset X$  such that  $E \cap U \subset E_i$ . So  $\Delta(E_i) \succeq \varphi$  by the monotonicity of  $\Delta$  and  $\widehat{\Delta}(E) \succeq \varphi$ . The same proof works for  $\succ \Box$ 

**Theorem 3.2.2** If  $(\Omega, \rho)$  is infinite s-space, then  $\widehat{\Delta}(\Omega) \succeq \psi^s(r\varepsilon/2)$ .

**Proof:** First I'll prove that  $\Delta([\alpha]) \succeq \psi^s(r\varepsilon/2)$  for every  $\alpha \in \Omega^*$ . This implies the result when combined with lemma 3.2.1. Fix  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and suppose that  $\alpha \in \Omega^n$ . If k > n and  $2r^k \le \varepsilon < 2r^{k-1}$ , then considerations similar to those when calculating  $N_{\varepsilon}(\Omega)$  show that

$$N_{\varepsilon}([\alpha]) = \prod_{i=n+1}^{k} \#(A_i) = \prod_{i=n+1}^{k} 2^{2^{i-1}}$$
$$= 2^{2^{k-1}+2^{k-2}+\dots+2^n} = 2^{2^k-2^n}$$

Now for every  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  choose  $\varepsilon_k \in [2r^k, 2r^{k-1})$  such that  $\psi^s(r\varepsilon_k/2) \geq \frac{1}{2}\psi^s(r^k)$ . Then,

$$N_{\varepsilon_{k}}([\alpha])\psi^{s}(r\varepsilon_{k}/2) \geq 2^{2^{k}-2^{n}}\left(\frac{1}{2}\psi^{s}(r^{k})\right)$$
$$= \frac{1}{2}2^{2^{k}-2^{n}}2^{-2^{k}} = 2^{2^{k}-2^{n}-2^{k}-1} = 2^{-(2^{n}+1)}.$$

 $\mathbf{So}$ 

$$\limsup_{\varepsilon \to 0} N_{\varepsilon}([\alpha])\psi^{s}(r\varepsilon/2) \geq \limsup_{k \to \infty} N_{\varepsilon_{k}}([\alpha])\psi^{s}(r\varepsilon_{k}/2) > 2^{-(2^{n}+1)}$$

Thus  $\Delta([\alpha]) \succeq \psi^s(r\varepsilon/2)$  and  $\widehat{\Delta}(\Omega) \asymp \psi^s(r\varepsilon/2).\square$ A similar argument shows that  $\widehat{\delta}(\Omega) \asymp \psi^s(\varepsilon/2)$ .

#### 3.3 Computation of Hausdorff Measures

Now I turn to the computation of Hausdorff measures. In this section  $\psi^s(t) = 2^{-(1/t)^s}$ . As Hausdorff measure is defined in terms of infimums, upper bounds are relatively straight forward.

**Lemma 3.3.1** If  $(\Omega, \rho)$  is infinite *s*-space, then  $\mathcal{H}^{\psi^s}(\Omega) \leq 1/2$ .

**Proof:** Let  $\varepsilon > 0$  and choose  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $r^k < \varepsilon$  where  $1/r^s = 2$ . Then  $\{[\alpha] : \alpha \in \Omega^k\}$  is an  $\varepsilon$ -cover of  $\Omega$  with  $2^{2^k-1}$  sets of diameter  $r^k$ . So

$$\mathcal{H}_{\varepsilon}^{\psi^{s}}(\Omega) \leq 2^{2^{k}-1}\psi^{s}(r^{k}) = 2^{2^{k}-1}2^{-(1/r^{k})^{s}} = 2^{2^{k}-1}2^{-2^{k}} = \frac{1}{2}$$

Thus  $\mathcal{H}^{\psi^s}(\Omega) = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \mathcal{H}^{\psi^s}_{\varepsilon}(\Omega) \leq \frac{1}{2}.\square$ 

Lower bounds may be obtained by comparing  $\mathcal{H}^{\varphi}$  with other measures as in the following lemma.

Lemma 3.3.2 Let  $\varphi \in \Phi$  and suppose there exists  $c, \delta > 0$  and a positive Borel measure  $\mu$  on E such that  $\mu(U) < c\varphi(\operatorname{diam}(U))$  for every set  $U \subset X$  with  $\operatorname{diam}(U) \leq \delta$ . Then  $\mu(E) \leq c\mathcal{H}^{\varphi}(E)$ . **Proof:** Suppose  $0 < \varepsilon \leq \delta$  and  $(U_i)_i$  is an  $\varepsilon$ -cover of E. Then

$$0 < \mu(E) \le \sum_{i} \mu(U_i) \le c \sum_{i} \varphi(\operatorname{diam}(U_i)).$$

So  $\mu(E) \leq c \mathcal{H}^{\varphi}_{\varepsilon}(E) \leq c \mathcal{H}^{\varphi}(E)$  after taking infimums.  $\Box$ 

Next, I apply this lemma to infinite s-space,  $(\Omega, \rho)$ . First some notation: If  $\alpha \in \Omega^k$  and  $\theta \in A_{k+1}$ , let  $\alpha \theta \in \Omega^{k+1}$  denote the concatenation of  $\alpha$  with  $\theta$ . Thus  $\alpha \theta = (\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_k, \theta)$ . Now for  $\alpha \in \Omega^k$  define  $\tilde{\mu}([\alpha]) = 2^{-2^k}$ . To extend  $\tilde{\mu}$  to finite unions of such sets, note that if  $\alpha \in \Omega^k$  then

$$\sum_{\theta \in A_{k+1}} \widetilde{\mu}([\alpha \theta]) = 2^{2^k} 2^{-2^{k+1}} = 2^{-2^k} = \widetilde{\mu}([\alpha]).$$

It follows by induction that if  $\mathcal{F} \in \Omega^*$  is finite and  $[\alpha] \cap [\beta] = \emptyset$ , for every  $\alpha, \beta \in \mathcal{F}$ with  $\alpha \neq \beta$ , then

$$\widetilde{\mu}(\bigcup_{\alpha\in\mathcal{F}}[\alpha])=\sum_{\alpha\in\mathcal{F}}\widetilde{\mu}([\alpha])$$

defines  $\tilde{\mu}$  consistently on the algebra of sets  $\mathcal{A}$  generated by  $\{[\alpha] : \alpha \in \Omega^*\}$ . We may use  $\tilde{\mu}$  to define an outer measure  $\mu^*$  by using what is sometimes called *method I* (see [Ed1])

$$\mu^*(E) = \inf \left\{ \sum_{A \in \mathcal{C}} \widetilde{\mu}(A) : E \subset \bigcup_{A \in \mathcal{C}} A \text{ and } \mathcal{C} \subset \mathcal{A} \right\}.$$

Finally, let  $\mu$  denote the restriction of  $\mu^*$  to the  $\mu^*$ -measurable subsets of  $\Omega$ . Since  $\tilde{\mu}$  is finitely additive on disjoint subsets of  $\mathcal{A}$ , it follows that each  $A \in \mathcal{A}$  is  $\mu^*$ -measurable and  $\mu = \tilde{\mu}$  on  $\mathcal{A}$  (see [Fol] prop. (1.13)). In particular  $\mu([\alpha]) = 2^{-2^k}$  if  $\alpha \in \Omega^k$ . Later, I will construct such measures without going into such detail. This measure  $\mu$  may be used to obtain a lower bound on  $\mathcal{H}^{\psi^s}(\Omega)$ . **Lemma 3.3.3** If  $(\Omega, \rho)$  is infinite *s*-space, then  $\mathcal{H}^{\psi^s}(\Omega) \geq 1/2$ .

**Proof:** Let  $U \subset \Omega$  satisfy  $r^{k+1} < \operatorname{diam}(U) \leq r^k$ . Since  $\operatorname{diam}(U) > r^{k+1}$ , there are  $\sigma, \tau \in U$  so that  $\sigma_{k+1} \neq \tau_{k+1}$ . So, in fact,  $\operatorname{diam}(U) = r^k$ . If  $\sigma \in U$  and  $\rho(\sigma, \tau) \leq r^k$ , then  $\tau_i = \sigma_i$  for  $i = 1, \ldots, k$ . So  $U \subset [\sigma|_k]$ . Thus

$$\mu(U) \le \mu([\sigma|_k]) = 2^{-2^k} = 2^{-(1/r^k)^s} = \psi^s(\operatorname{diam}(U))$$

and  $\mathcal{H}^{\psi^s}(\Omega) \ge \mu(\Omega) = 1/2$ , by lemma 3.3.2.  $\Box$ 

Putting together lemmas 3.3.1 and 3.3.3 we get

**Theorem 3.3.1** If  $(\Omega, \rho)$  is infinite *s*-space, then  $\mathcal{H}^{\psi^s}(\Omega) = 1/2$ .

In fact, these arguments may be strengthened to show that  $\mathcal{H}^{\psi^s} = \mu$  on  $\Omega$ .

Lemma 3.3.2 is good but not quite powerful enough for some of my purposes. The next lemma is similar, but more widely applicable.

**Lemma 3.3.4** For a separable metric space X with a positive Borel measure  $\mu$ ,  $x \in X$ , and  $\delta > 0$  let

$$\mu_{\delta}(x) = \sup\{\mu(U) : x \in U \text{ and } \operatorname{diam}(U) \le \delta\}.$$

Let  $\delta_k \searrow 0$ . Suppose that  $\varphi, \psi \in \Phi$  satisfy

$$\max_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \frac{\varphi(\delta_k)}{\psi(\delta_{k+1})} < A < \infty.$$
(3.2)

Let  $E \subset X$  be a Borel set which satisfies

$$\overline{D}^{\varphi}_{\mu}(x,(\delta_k)) \equiv \limsup_{k \to 0} \frac{\mu_{\delta_k}(x)}{\varphi(\delta_k)} < M < \infty \text{ for every } x \in E.$$

Then  $\mathcal{H}^{\psi}(E) = \infty$ .

**Proof:** Let  $k_0 \in \mathbb{N}$  and choose  $0 < \varepsilon < \delta_{k_0}$ . Let

$$E_{k_0} = \{ x \in E : \mu_{\delta_k}(x) < M\varphi(\delta_k) \text{ for every } k \ge k_0 \}.$$

Note that  $\bigcup_{k_0=1}^{\infty} E_{k_0} = E$ . Suppose that  $\mathcal{C}$  is an  $\varepsilon$ -cover of E and so of  $E_{k_0}$ . For  $k \ge k_0$  write

$$\mathcal{C}_k = \{ U \in \mathcal{C} : \delta_{k+1} < \operatorname{diam}(U) \le \delta_k \}.$$

I may assume that  $\#(\mathcal{C}_k) < \infty$  for every k. Otherwise

$$\sum_{U \in C} \psi(\operatorname{diam}(U)) = \infty$$

and I'm done. For  $U \in \mathcal{C}_k$  such that  $U \cap E_{k_0} \neq \emptyset$  I have  $\mu(U) < M\varphi(\delta_k)$ . So

$$\begin{split} \mu(E_{k_0}) &\leq \sum_{\substack{U \in \mathcal{C} \\ U \cap E_{k_0} \neq \emptyset}} \mu(U) = \sum_{\substack{k=k_0 \\ U \cap E_{k_0} \neq \emptyset}}^{\infty} \mu(U) \\ &\leq M \sum_{\substack{k=k_0 \\ k=k_0}}^{\infty} \#(\mathcal{C}_k)\varphi(\delta_k) \leq M \sum_{\substack{k=k_0 \\ k=k_0}}^{\infty} \sum_{\substack{U \in \mathcal{C}_k \\ \psi(\delta_{k+1})}} \sum_{\substack{U \in \mathcal{C}_k \\ \psi(diam(U))}} \psi(diam(U)) \\ &\leq M A \left( \sum_{\substack{k=k_0 \\ U \in \mathcal{C}}}^{\infty} \sum_{\substack{U \in \mathcal{C}_k \\ \psi(diam(U))}} \psi(diam(U)) \right) \\ &= M A \left( \sum_{\substack{U \in \mathcal{C} \\ U \in \mathcal{C}}} \psi(diam(U)) \right). \end{split}$$

Now  $\mu(E_{k_0}) \to \mu(E)$  as  $k_0 \to \infty$ . Thus  $\sum_{U \in \mathcal{C}} \psi(\operatorname{diam}(U)) > \mu(E_{k_0})/MA$  and  $\mathcal{H}^{\psi}(E) > \mu(E)/MA.\Box$ 

As an example, suppose that  $\psi^s(t) = 2^{-(1/t)^s}$  and  $\delta_k = cu^k$ . Then for  $s_1 < s_2$ , I have

$$\frac{\psi^{s_2}(\delta_k)}{\psi^{s_1}(\delta_{k+1})} = 2^{-(\frac{1}{cu^k})^{s_2} + (\frac{1}{cu^{k+1}})^{s_1}}$$

$$= 2^{-\left(\frac{1}{cu^{k}}\right)^{s_{2}}\left(1-(cu^{k})^{s_{2}}\left(\frac{1}{cu^{k+1}}\right)^{s_{1}}\right)}$$
$$= 2^{-\left(\frac{1}{cu^{k}}\right)^{s_{2}}\left(1-\left(\frac{1}{u}\right)^{s_{1}}\left(cu^{k}\right)^{s_{2}-s_{1}}\right)} \le 2^{-\frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{1}{cu^{k}}\right)^{s_{2}}}$$

for large k. This last term approaches zero as  $k \to \infty$ . So given a Borel set  $E \subset X$ , to show that  $\mathcal{H}^{\psi^{s_1}}(E) = \infty$ , it suffices to find a positive Borel measure  $\mu$  on E, M > 0, and an  $s_2 > s_1$  such that

$$\overline{D}_{\mu}^{\psi^{s_2}}(x, (cu^k)) < M$$

for every  $x \in E$ . In fact, this shows that  $\dim(E) \succ \psi^{s^1}$ , since if  $s_1 < s' < s_2$ , then  $\mathcal{H}^{\psi^{s'}}(E) = \infty$  implying that  $\mathcal{H}^{\psi^{s_1}}(E)$  is non- $\sigma$ -finite.

#### 3.4 s-Nested Packings

Part of the importance of sequence space is that it may be used to model many other spaces. In [Ed1], for example, self-similar sequence spaces are used in the study of self-similar sets in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . In this section I will define a condition on a closed subset E of a complete separable metric space X which allows the construction of a subset  $E' \subset E$  which is Lipeomorphic to a certain sequence space. This result will be used later to transfer results from sequence space to more general spaces.

Now let E be as above, fix c, s > 0,  $\varepsilon \in (0, 1/4)$ , and  $m > (1/\varepsilon)^s + 1$ . Let  $\Omega = \{1, \ldots, m\}^{\mathbb{N}}$  with the metric d given by  $r(\alpha) = c\varepsilon^n$  for every  $\alpha \in \Omega^n$ . An *s*-nested packing of E will be a collection of closed balls  $\{B_{c\varepsilon^{|\alpha|}}(x_\alpha)\}_{\alpha\in\Omega^*}$  satisfying:

1.  $x_{\alpha} \in E$  for every  $\alpha \in \Omega^*$ 

- 2.  $B_{c\varepsilon^n}(x_\alpha) \cap B_{c\varepsilon^n}(x_\beta) = \emptyset$  for distinct  $\alpha, \beta \in \Omega^n$ .
- $3. \ B_{c\varepsilon^{|\alpha|}}(x_{\alpha}) \subset B_{c\varepsilon^{|\alpha^-|/4}}(x_{\alpha^-}) \text{ for every } \alpha \in \Omega^*.$

This definition also depends on  $c, \varepsilon$ , and m, however the important parameter is sbecause dimensional bounds given later will be in terms of s. If E has such an snested packing, then let  $E' = \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} \bigcup_{\alpha \in \Omega^n} B_{c\varepsilon^{|\alpha|}}(x_{\alpha})$ . Define a map  $g : \Omega \to E'$  by  $g(\omega) = \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} B_{c\varepsilon^n}(x_{\omega|_n}).$ 

**Lemma 3.4.1** The map g above is bi-Lipschitz.

**Proof:** Let  $\omega_1, \omega_2 \in \Omega$  satisfy  $d(\omega_1, \omega_2) = c\varepsilon^n$ . Then  $g(\omega_1), g(\omega_2) \in B_{c\varepsilon^n}(x_{\omega_1|_n})$ , so  $\rho(g(\omega_1), g(\omega_2)) \leq 2c\varepsilon^n$ . For the lower bound, note that  $g(\omega_i) \in B_{c\varepsilon^{n+1}/4}(x_{\omega_i|_{n+1}})$  for i = 1, 2 and  $B_{c\varepsilon^{n+1}}(x_{\omega_1|_{n+1}}) \cap B_{c\varepsilon^{n+1}}(x_{\omega_2|_{n+1}}) = \emptyset$ . So

$$c\varepsilon^{n+1} \leq \rho(x_{\omega_1|_{n+1}}, x_{\omega_2|_{n+1}})$$
  
$$\leq \rho(x_{\omega_1|_{n+1}}, g(\omega_1)) + \rho(g(\omega_1), g(\omega_2)) + \rho(g(\omega_1), x_{\omega_2|_{n+2}})$$
  
$$\leq \frac{c\varepsilon^{n+1}}{4} + \rho(g(\omega_1), g(\omega_2)) + \frac{c\varepsilon^{n+1}}{4}.$$

So  $\rho(g(\omega_1), g(\omega_2)) \ge \frac{c\varepsilon^{n+1}}{2} = \frac{\varepsilon}{2}c\varepsilon^n.\square$ 

Next, I would like to show that this condition is non-vacuous by constructing an s-nested packing for a self similar set  $E \subset X$ . Self similar sets are obtained as follows: Let  $m_1 \in \mathbb{N}$  and for  $i = 1, \ldots, m_1$  let  $f_i : X \to X$  be a similarity with ratio  $r_i \in (0, 1)$ . This means that for every  $x, y \in X$  we have  $\rho(f_i(x), f_i(y)) = r_i \rho(x, y)$ . In this situation there exists a unique non-empty compact set  $E \subset X$  such that  $E = \bigcup_{i=1}^{m_1} f_i(E)$ . A set obtained this way is said to be *self-similar*. [Ed1] has more details. I will be using two sequence spaces  $\Omega_1$  and  $\Omega_2$  to analyze the set E. The first one is the self-similar sequence space  $\Omega_1 = \{1, \ldots, m_1\}^{\mathbb{N}}$  with metric  $d_1$  given by the ratio list  $(r_i)_{i=1}^{m_1}$  corresponding to the contraction ratios of  $(f_i)_{i=1}^{m_1}$ . Given  $\alpha =$  $(\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n) \in \Omega_1^n$ , abbreviate  $f_{\alpha_1} \circ \cdots \circ f_{\alpha_n}(E)$  by  $\alpha(E)$ . I will construct the *s*-nested packing in the metric space  $(E, \rho)$  rather than  $(X, \rho)$ . The reason for this is because for  $x \in E$ ,  $\alpha \in \Omega_1^*$ , and  $\varepsilon > 0$  I have  $\alpha(B_{\varepsilon}(x)) = B_{r(\alpha)\varepsilon}(\alpha(x))$  as long as only balls in  $(E, \rho)$  are considered. This is due to the invariance of E under the transformations  $(f_i)_{i=1}^{m_1}$  and not generally true in the larger metric space  $(X, \rho)$ .

Now let s > 0, let  $r = \min\{r_i\}_{i=1}^{m_1}$ , and let  $c = \frac{8}{r} \max\{\operatorname{diam}(E), 1\}$ . Fix  $\delta \in (0, \min\{\frac{1}{4}, \frac{1}{4}\operatorname{diam}(E)\})$  such that  $N_{2\delta}(E) > (c/\delta)^s + 1$ . Such a  $\delta$  certainly exists if  $\Delta(E) \succ t^s$ . Let  $\varepsilon = \delta/c$  and let  $m_2 = N_{2\delta}(E)$ . The other sequence space of interest is  $\Omega_2 = \{1, \ldots, m_2\}^{\mathbb{N}}$  with metric  $d_2$  given by  $r(\beta) = c\varepsilon^n$  for  $\beta \in \Omega_2^n$ .

I will construct an s-nested packing of E for the choices above. Choose  $x_{\Lambda} \in E$ arbitrarily. This gives  $B_c(x_{\Lambda})$ . The existence of  $\{B_{c\varepsilon}(x_{\beta})\}_{\beta \in \Omega_2^1}$  is guaranteed by the fact that  $N_{2\delta}(E) > (c/\delta)^s + 1$  since  $\delta = c\varepsilon$ . The construction will proceed by induction on the length of  $\beta$ . Suppose that  $B_{c\varepsilon}|_{\beta}|(x_{\beta})$  have been defined for  $|\beta| \leq n$ . For  $\beta \in \Omega_2^n$ , choose  $\alpha_{\beta} \in \Omega_1^*$  such that  $x_{\beta} \in \alpha_{\beta}(E)$ , and

diam
$$(\alpha_{\beta}(E)) \leq \frac{1}{8} \frac{\delta^n}{c^{n-1}} < \operatorname{diam}(\alpha_{\beta}(E)).$$

Since  $r = \min\{r_i\}$  we have:

$$\operatorname{diam}(\alpha_{\beta}(E)) \geq \frac{r}{8} \frac{\delta^{n}}{c^{n-1}} = \frac{r}{8\operatorname{diam}(E)} \frac{\delta^{n}}{c^{n-1}} \operatorname{diam}(E) \geq \frac{\delta^{n}}{c^{n}} \operatorname{diam}(E).$$

So  $N_{2\delta(\delta^n/c^n)}(\alpha_\beta(E)) \ge N_{2\delta}(E) = m_2$ . Thus  $\alpha_\beta(E)$  may be packed with  $m_2$  balls of radius  $\delta^{n+1}/c^n = c\varepsilon^{n+1}$  to continue the induction.

For a useful generalization, note that if  $f: X \to X$  is a bi-Lipschitz map satisfying  $\rho(f(x), f(y)) \ge r\rho(x, y)$  for every  $x, y \in X$ , then  $f(B_{\varepsilon}(x)) \supset B_{r\varepsilon}(f(x))$ . So if  $f: E \to F$  is a bi-Lipschitz bijection and E has an s-nested packing  $\{B_{c\varepsilon}|_{\alpha}|(x_{\alpha})\}_{\alpha\in\Omega^*}$ , then f induces an s-nested packing of F namely  $\{B_{cr\varepsilon}|_{\alpha}|(f(x_{\alpha}))\}_{\alpha\in\Omega^*}$ . Putting all this together we obtain:

**Theorem 3.4.1** If  $E \subset X$  has a subset which is Lipeomorphic to a self-similar set F satisfying  $\Delta(F) \succ t^s$ , then E has an *s*-nested packing.

Finally, I will have occasion to extract a packing  $\mathcal{B} \subset \{B_{c\varepsilon^{|\alpha|}}(x_{\alpha})\}_{\alpha\in\Omega^*}$  from a given *s*-nested packing satisfying the condition described in the following lemma.

**Lemma 3.4.2** Given an *s*-nested packing there is a packing  $\mathcal{B} \subset \{B_{c\varepsilon^{|\alpha|}}(x_{\alpha})\}_{\alpha\in\Omega^*}$ such that for every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

$$#(\{\alpha \in \Omega^n : B_{c\varepsilon^n}(x_\alpha) \in \mathcal{B}\}) = (m-1)^{n-1}.$$

**Proof:** Choose one  $\alpha \in \Omega^1$  arbitrarily and put  $B_{c\varepsilon}(x_{\alpha}) \in \mathcal{B}$ . Continuing recursively, suppose that  $B_{c\varepsilon|\alpha|}(x_{\alpha})$  have been chosen for  $|\alpha| \leq n$  such that

$$#(\{\alpha \in \Omega^k : B_{c\varepsilon^k}(x_\alpha) \in \mathcal{B}\}) = (m-1)^{k-1}$$

for each k = 1, ..., n. A given  $B_{c\varepsilon^k}(x_\alpha) \in \mathcal{B}$  where  $\alpha \in \Omega^k$  contains  $m^{n+1-k}$  balls  $B_{c\varepsilon^{n+1}}(x_\beta)$  where  $\beta \in \Omega^{n+1}$ . For fixed k,  $\mathcal{B}$  contains  $(m-1)^{k-1}$  such balls  $B_{c\varepsilon^k}(x_\alpha)$ . Thus for this fixed k,

$$\#(\{\beta \in \Omega^{n+1} : B_{c\varepsilon^{n+1}}(x_\beta) \subset B_{c\varepsilon^k}(x_\alpha) \in \mathcal{B}\}) = m^{n+1-k}(m-1)^{k-1}.$$

So then the number of  $\beta \in \Omega^{n+1}$  such that  $B_{c\varepsilon^{n+1}}(x_{\beta})$  is contained in no  $B_{c\varepsilon^{k}}(x_{\alpha}) \in \mathcal{B}$ for any  $k = 1, \ldots, n$  is

$$m^{n+1} - \sum_{k=1}^{n} (m-1)^{k-1} m^{n+1-k} = m^{n+1} \left( 1 - \frac{1}{m} \sum_{k=1}^{n} \left( \frac{m-1}{m} \right)^{k-1} \right)$$
$$= m^{n+1} \left( 1 - \frac{1}{m} \left( \frac{\left( \frac{m-1}{m} \right)^n - 1}{\frac{m-1}{m} - 1} \right) \right)$$
$$= m^{n+1} \left( 1 + \frac{(m-1)^n}{m^n} - 1 \right)$$
$$= m(m-1)^n > (m-1)^n.$$

Thus the induction may continue.  $\Box$ 

#### 3.5 A Cartesian Product Example

The Hausdorff measure and dimension were defined in 1918. The related theory is now greatly developed and the definition has withstood the test of time. In contrast, the packing measure and dimension have developed relatively recently. If one looks at the recent references [Ed1], [TayTr], or [Tr], one finds a slightly different definition of packing measure based on the diameter of a ball rather than the radius of a ball, as I have done. Specifically, for  $\varphi \in \Phi$  construct a diameter based packing measure  $Q^{\varphi}$ on a separable metric space  $(X, \rho)$  as follows: For  $E \subset X$  an  $\varepsilon$ -packing of E (for this section only) is a finite or countable collection of closed balls  $\{B_{r_i}(x_i)\}_i$  with centers in E such that diam $(B_{r_i}(x_i)) \leq \varepsilon$  for every i. Let

$$\widetilde{Q}_{\varepsilon}^{\varphi}(E) = \sup\{\sum_{i} \varphi(\operatorname{diam}(B_{r_{i}}(x_{i}))) : \{B_{r_{i}}(x_{i})\}_{i} \text{ is an } \varepsilon \text{-packing of } E\}$$

$$\widetilde{Q}^{\varphi}(E) = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \widetilde{Q}^{\varphi}_{\varepsilon}(E),$$

and

$$Q^{\varphi}(E) = \inf\{\sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \widetilde{Q}^{\varphi}(E_i) : E \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^{\infty} E_i\}.$$

These definitions are very similar to the definitions for  $\mathcal{P}^{\varphi}$  given in section 2.1.2, except that twice the radius of a ball  $2r_i$  is replaced by the diameter of a ball diam $(B_{r_i}(x_i))$ .  $Q^{\varphi}$  is a reasonable measure which is clearly equal to  $\mathcal{P}^{\varphi}$  on Euclidean space  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . In [Cut], however, it is argued that the radius based definition more closely preserves the desirable properties of packing measure and dimension on Euclidean space. For example, she mentions that the value of the pre-measure  $\tilde{Q}_{\varepsilon}^{\varphi}$  is sensitive to whether closed balls or open balls are used, while  $\tilde{\mathcal{P}}_{\varepsilon}^{\varphi}$  will not be affected by this choice. The freedom to pack with either closed balls or open balls is frequently convenient in proofs. In this section, I intend to give an example involving cartesian products supporting the view that the radius based definition is preferable for general metric spaces.

One very nice feature of the packing dimension in Euclidean space is its behavior with respect to Cartesian products. Given metric spaces  $(X, \rho_x)$  and  $(Y, \rho_y)$ , a metric  $\rho$  may be defined on the set  $X \times Y = \{(x, y) : x \in X, y \in Y\}$  by

$$\rho((x_1, y_1), (x_2, y_2)) = \max\{\rho_x(x_1, x_2), \rho_y(y_1, y_2)\}.$$

Let  $\varphi_s(t) = t^s$ . Part of [Tr] theorem 5 states that if  $\text{Dim}(E) \preceq \varphi_{s_1}$  and  $\text{Dim}(F) \preceq \varphi_{s_2}$ , then  $\text{Dim}(E \times F) \preceq \varphi_{s_1+s_2}$  when E and F are subsets of Euclidean space. There is a similar statement made in [Weg] on page 68 for the upper entropy dimension valid for arbitrary metric spaces. By the comparison theorem 2.2.2, the radius based packing dimension behaves in a similar manner. The following example shows that this is not the case for the diameter based packing measure:

**Example 3.5.1** Let  $\Omega_1$  be the sequence space as described in section 3.1 corresponding to the sequence of natural numbers  $(a_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  with diameter function  $r: \Omega_1^* \to (0, 1]$ given by  $r(\alpha) = \prod_{i=1}^k \frac{1}{a_i}$  for  $\alpha \in \Omega_1^k$  and  $r(\Lambda) = 1$ . Define  $\Omega_2$  similarly, but with the sequence  $(b_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$ . Let  $\varphi_1(t) = t$ . Then  $Q^{\varphi_1}(\Omega_1) \leq 1$  and  $Q^{\varphi_1}(\Omega_2) \leq 1$ . But given any  $\varphi \in \Phi$  the sequences  $(a_n)_n$  and  $(b_n)_n$  may be chosen to make  $Q^{\varphi}(\Omega_1 \times \Omega_2) = \infty$ .

**Proof:** To show that  $Q^{\varphi_1}(\Omega_1) \leq 1$ , I will use the notion of a refinement of a packing. Given a packing  $\mathcal{B}_1$  of a sequence space  $\Omega$ , a *refinement*  $\mathcal{B}_2$  of  $\mathcal{B}_1$  is a packing such that for every  $[\beta] \in \mathcal{B}_2$ , there is an  $[\alpha] \in \mathcal{B}_1$  such that  $[\beta] \subset [\alpha]$ . Note that any packing of  $\Omega$  is a refinement of the trivial packing  $[\Lambda]$ .

Next note that if  $\alpha \in \Omega_1^k$  and A denotes the set of all children of  $\alpha$ , then

$$\sum_{\beta \in A} \operatorname{diam}([\beta]) = a_{k+1} \prod_{i=1}^{k+1} \frac{1}{a_i} = \prod_{i=1}^k \frac{1}{a_i} = \operatorname{diam}([\alpha]).$$

It follows that if  $\mathcal{B}_1$  is a packing of  $\Omega_1$  and  $\mathcal{B}_2$  is a refinement of  $\mathcal{B}_1$ , then

$$\sum_{[\beta]\in\mathcal{B}_2} \operatorname{diam}([\beta]) \le \sum_{[\alpha]\in\mathcal{B}_1} \operatorname{diam}([\alpha]).$$

In particular, any packing  $\mathcal{B}$  of  $\Omega_1$  satisfies  $\sum_{[\alpha]\in\mathcal{B}} \operatorname{diam}([\alpha]) \leq \operatorname{diam}([\Lambda]) = 1$ . So  $Q^{\varphi}(\Omega_1) \leq \widetilde{Q}^{\varphi}(\Omega_1) \leq 1$ . Similar considerations apply to  $\Omega_2$ .

Now let  $\varphi \in \Phi$ . I will recursively define integers  $(a_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  and  $(b_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  so that  $Q^{\varphi}(\Omega_1 \times \Omega_2) = \infty$ . Let  $a_1 = 1$ , and choose  $b_1 > \max\{a_1, 1/\varphi(a_1)\}$ . Choose  $a_2 \in \mathbb{N}$ 

such that  $\frac{1}{a_1a_2} < \frac{1}{b_1} < \frac{1}{a_1}$ , then choose  $b_2 \ge 2/(a_1a_2b_1\varphi(\frac{1}{a_1a_2}))$  such that  $\frac{1}{b_1b_2} < \frac{1}{a_1a_2}$ . Suppose that  $(a_1, \ldots, a_n)$  and  $(b_1, \ldots, b_n)$  have been chosen so that for every  $k = 2, \ldots, n$  we have

$$\prod_{i=1}^{k} \frac{1}{a_i} < \prod_{i=1}^{k-1} \frac{1}{b_i} < \prod_{i=1}^{k-1} \frac{1}{a_i}$$
(3.3)

and  $(\prod_{i=1}^k a_i b_i) \varphi(\prod_{i=1}^k \frac{1}{a_i}) \ge k$ . Choose  $a_{n+1}$  such that  $\prod_{i=1}^{n+1} \frac{1}{a_i} < \prod_{i=1}^n \frac{1}{b_i}$ , then choose

$$b_{n+1} \ge \frac{n+1}{(\prod_{i=1}^{n+1} a_i)(\prod_{i=1}^{n} b_i)\varphi(\prod_{i=1}^{n+1} \frac{1}{a_i})}$$

such that  $\prod_{i=1}^{n+1} \frac{1}{b_i} < \prod_{i=1}^{n+1} \frac{1}{a_i}$ .

Now if  $\Omega_1 \times \Omega_2 = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} K_n$  where each  $K_n$  is closed, then by Baire category there are  $k, n \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $\alpha \in \Omega_1^k$ ,  $\beta \in \Omega_2^k$  such that  $[\alpha] \times [\beta] \subset K_n$ . Thus to show that  $Q^{\varphi}(\Omega_1 \times \Omega_2) = \infty$ , it suffices to show that  $\tilde{Q}^{\varphi}([\alpha] \times [\beta]) = \infty$  for  $\alpha \in \Omega_1^k$ ,  $\beta \in \Omega_2^k$ .

So suppose that  $\alpha \in \Omega_1^k$ ,  $\beta \in \Omega_2^k$ . Let n > k and let  $\alpha'$  and  $\beta'$  be descendants of  $\alpha$ and  $\beta$  respectively of length n. Then diam $([\alpha']) = \prod_{i=1}^n \frac{1}{a_i}$  and diam $([\beta']) = \prod_{i=1}^n \frac{1}{b_i}$ . From the condition in equation 3.3, it follows that if  $(\omega_1, \sigma_1), (\omega_2, \sigma_2) \in [\alpha'] \times [\beta']$ , then  $\rho((\omega_1, \sigma_1), (\omega_2, \sigma_2)) \leq \prod_{i=1}^n \frac{1}{a_i}$ . Conversely, any point  $(\omega_3, \sigma_3) \in \Omega_1 \times \Omega_2 \setminus [\alpha'] \times [\beta']$ satisfies  $\rho((\omega_1, \sigma_1), (\omega_3, \sigma_3)) > \prod_{i=1}^n \frac{1}{a_i}$ . So  $[\alpha'] \times [\beta']$  is a ball (closed and open) of diameter  $\prod_{i=1}^n \frac{1}{a_i}$ . The collection of all such  $[\alpha'] \times [\beta']$  forms a  $\prod_{i=1}^n \frac{1}{a_i}$ -packing of  $[\alpha] \times [\beta]$  with  $\prod_{i=k+1}^n a_i b_i$  elements. So for  $\varepsilon = \prod_{i=1}^n \frac{1}{a_i}$ ,

$$\tilde{Q}_{\varepsilon}^{\varphi}([\alpha] \times [\beta]) \ge (\prod_{i=k+1}^{n} a_{i}b_{i})\varphi(\prod_{i=1}^{n} \frac{1}{a_{i}}) \ge \frac{n}{\prod_{i=1}^{k} a_{i}b_{i}} \to \infty$$

as  $n \to \infty$ . Thus  $\tilde{Q}^{\varphi}([\alpha] \times [\beta]) = \infty$  and  $Q^{\varphi}(\Omega_1 \times \Omega_2) = \infty.\square$ 

## CHAPTER IV

## **Dimensions of Hyperspaces**

Given a metric space,  $(X, \rho)$ , a hyperspace associated with X is a metric space whose elements are subsets of X. In this chapter I will discuss the relationship between the dimension of a metric space and various hyperspaces.

#### 4.1 Entropy Dimensions of the Space $\mathcal{K}(X)$

Given a metric space  $(X, \rho)$ , let  $\mathcal{K}(X)$  denote the set of non-empty, compact subsets of X. Endow  $\mathcal{K}(X)$  with a metric  $\tilde{\rho}$  as follows: For  $A, B \subset X$  let

$$\operatorname{dist}(A, B) = \inf \{ \rho(x, y) : x \in A, y \in B \}.$$

Then for  $A, B \in \mathcal{K}(X)$  let

$$\widetilde{\rho}(A,B) = \max\{\sup_{x \in A} \{\operatorname{dist}(x,B)\}, \sup_{y \in B} \{\operatorname{dist}(y,A)\}\}.$$

The metric  $\tilde{\rho}$  so defined is generally called the *Hausdorff metric*. Note that a tilde will frequently indicate that I am working in the hyperspace. The space  $(\mathcal{K}(X), \tilde{\rho})$ inherits many nice features from  $(X, \rho)$ . For example,  $\mathcal{K}(X)$  is complete whenever X is complete and  $\mathcal{K}(X)$  is compact whenever X is compact. For a proof of these facts, including that  $\tilde{\rho}$  is a metric, see [Ed1] section 2. 4.

The following lemmas describe the relationship between  $\Delta(E)$  and  $\Delta(\mathcal{K}(E))$ . Note that all that follows holds for  $\delta$  and  $\hat{\delta}$  with very similar proofs.

**Lemma 4.1.1** For totally bounded  $E \subset X$ ,  $\Delta(E) \succ \varphi$  implies  $\Delta(\mathcal{K}(E)) \succ 2^{-1/\varphi}$ .

**Proof:** For  $\varepsilon > 0$ , let  $\mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon} = \{B_{\varepsilon/2}(x_i)\}_{i=1}^{N_{\varepsilon}(E)}$  be an  $\varepsilon$ -packing of E with  $N_{\varepsilon}(E)$  balls of radius  $\varepsilon/2$ . If  $F \subset \{x_i\}_{i=1}^{N_{\varepsilon}(E)}$  is non-empty, then  $F \in \mathcal{K}(E)$  and we may consider  $\widetilde{B}_{\varepsilon/2}(F) \subset \mathcal{K}(E)$  the ball of radius  $\varepsilon/2$  centered on F. Note that

$$\widetilde{B}_{\varepsilon/2}(F) = \{ C \in \mathcal{K}(E) : C \subset \bigcup_{x_i \in F} B_{\varepsilon/2}(x_i) \text{ and } C \cap B_{\varepsilon/2}(x_i) \neq \emptyset \, \forall x_i \in F \}.$$

From this it is easy to see that given distinct, non-empty  $F_1$ ,  $F_2 \subset \{x_i\}_{i=1}^{N_{\varepsilon/2}(E)}$  we have  $\tilde{B}_{\varepsilon/2}(F_1) \cap \tilde{B}_{\varepsilon/2}(F_2) = \emptyset$ . So  $N_{\varepsilon}(\mathcal{K}(E)) \ge 2^{N_{\varepsilon}(E)} - 1$  and

$$N_{\varepsilon}(\mathcal{K}(E))2^{-1/\varphi(\varepsilon)} \geq (2^{N_{\varepsilon}(E)} - 1)2^{-1/\varphi(\varepsilon)} = 2^{N_{\varepsilon}(E) - \frac{1}{\varphi(\varepsilon)}} - 2^{\frac{-1}{\varphi(\varepsilon)}}$$
$$= 2^{\frac{N_{\varepsilon}(E)\varphi(\varepsilon) - 1}{\varphi(\varepsilon)}} - 2^{\frac{-1}{\varphi(\varepsilon)}}.$$

Thus

$$\limsup_{\varepsilon \to 0} N_{\varepsilon}(\mathcal{K}(E)) 2^{-1/\varphi(\varepsilon)} \ge \limsup_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left( 2^{\frac{N_{\varepsilon}(E)\varphi(\varepsilon) - 1}{\varphi(\varepsilon)}} - 2^{\frac{-1}{\varphi(\varepsilon)}} \right) = \infty$$

since  $\limsup_{\varepsilon \to 0} N_{\varepsilon}(E)\varphi(\varepsilon) = \infty$ . So  $\Delta(\mathcal{K}(E)) \succ 2^{-1/\varphi}.\square$ 

For the reverse inequality it will be useful to define the quantity  $M_{\varepsilon}$  by

 $M_{\varepsilon}(E) = \min \text{ number of sets of diameter } \leq \varepsilon \text{ needed to cover } E.$ 

 $M_{\varepsilon}$  is related to  $N_{\varepsilon}$  as per the following lemma.

**Lemma 4.1.2** For totally bounded E and  $\varepsilon > 0$ ,  $N_{\varepsilon}(E) \le M_{\varepsilon/2}(E) \le N_{\varepsilon/4}(E)$ .

**Proof:** The first inequality is because any two closed disjoint balls of radius  $\varepsilon/2$  must have centers separated by more than  $\varepsilon/2$ . Thus an  $\varepsilon/2$ -cover requires at least one set for each element of an  $\varepsilon$ -packing.

The second inequality follows from the fact that a maximal packing by  $\varepsilon/8$ -balls induces an  $\varepsilon/2$ -cover by doubling the radius of each of the balls.

**Lemma 4.1.3** For *E* totally bounded,  $\Delta(E) \prec \varphi(t)$  implies  $\Delta(\mathcal{K}(E)) \prec 2^{-1/\varphi(t/4)}$ .

**Proof:** Let  $\mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon} = \{B_{\varepsilon/2}(x_i)\}_{i=1}^{N_{\varepsilon}(E)}$  be an  $\varepsilon$ -packing of E. Then  $\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}_{\varepsilon} = \{\widetilde{B}_{\varepsilon}(F)\}_{F \subset \{x_i\}}$  forms a  $2\varepsilon$ -cover of  $\mathcal{K}(E)$  with  $2^{N_{\varepsilon}(E)} - 1$  elements. So

$$N_{4\varepsilon}(\mathcal{K}(E)) \le M_{2\varepsilon}(\mathcal{K}(E)) \le 2^{N_{\varepsilon}(E)} - 1$$

for every  $\varepsilon > 0$ . So

$$N_{4\varepsilon}(\mathcal{K}(E))2^{-1/\varphi(\varepsilon)} \leq (2^{N_{\varepsilon}(E)} - 1)2^{-1/\varphi(\varepsilon)}$$
$$= 2^{\frac{N_{\varepsilon}(E)\varphi(\varepsilon) - 1}{\varphi(\varepsilon)}} - 2^{-1/\varphi(\varepsilon)} \to 0$$

as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ . Thus  $\Delta(\mathcal{K}(E)) \prec 2^{-1/\varphi(t/4)}.\square$ 

It is natural to ask if  $\Delta(E) \asymp \varphi$  implies  $\Delta(\mathcal{K}(E)) \asymp 2^{-1/\varphi}$ . The answer is no, basically because the  $\asymp$  relation is too sensitive. For example, if  $I \subset \mathbb{R}$  is a closed interval of length  $\ell$ , then the optimal  $\varepsilon$ -packing of I consists of  $[\ell/\varepsilon]$  balls with centers separated by  $\varepsilon$ . So  $N_{\varepsilon}(I) = [\ell/\varepsilon]$  and  $\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \varepsilon N_{\varepsilon}(I) = \ell$ . So  $\Delta(I) \asymp \varepsilon$  for any bounded interval I. But, as we see in the proofs of lemmas 4.1.1 and 4.1.3,

$$2^{N_{\varepsilon}(E)} - 1 \le N_{\varepsilon}(\mathcal{K}(E)) \le 2^{N_{\varepsilon/4}(E)} - 1.$$

$$N_{\varepsilon}(\mathcal{K}(I))2^{-1/\varepsilon} \begin{cases} \geq (2^{[\ell/\varepsilon]} - 1)2^{-1/\varepsilon} \to \infty \text{ if } \ell > 1\\ \leq (2^{[4\ell/\varepsilon]} - 1)2^{-1/\varepsilon} \to 0 \text{ if } \ell < \frac{1}{4}. \end{cases}$$

And

$$\Delta(\mathcal{K}(I)) \left\{ \begin{array}{l} \succ 2^{-1/\varepsilon} \text{ if } \ell > 1\\ \prec 2^{-1/\varepsilon} \text{ if } \ell < \frac{1}{4}. \end{array} \right.$$

The next step is to pass to the entropy dimensions.

**Theorem 4.1.1** If  $E \subset X$  is  $\sigma$ -compact and  $\widehat{\Delta}(E) \succ \varphi$ , then  $\widehat{\Delta}(\mathcal{K}(E)) \succ 2^{-1/\varphi}$ .

**Proof:** Suppose that  $\widehat{\Delta}(E) \succ \varphi$  and E is compact. The extension of the theorem to  $\sigma$ -compact sets is straightforward as any such set contains a compact subset Esatisfying  $\widehat{\Delta}(E) \succ \varphi$  by  $\sigma$ -stability. I will need to highlight a subset of E with a certain regularity property. Let

$$E_{\varphi} = \{ x \in E : \widehat{\Delta}(E \cap B_r(x)) \succ \varphi \ \forall r > 0 \}.$$

 $E \setminus E_{\varphi}$  is open in E practically by definition. So  $E_{\varphi}$  is closed in E and, therefore,  $\sigma$ -compact. Let  $x \in E_{\varphi}$  and let r > 0. I claim that  $\hat{\Delta}(E_{\varphi} \cap B_r(x)) \succ \varphi$ . (This is the needed regularity property of  $E_{\varphi}$ .)  $\hat{\Delta}(E \cap B_r(x)) \succ \varphi$  by definition. For every  $y \in (E \setminus E_{\varphi}) \cap B_r(x)$ , choose an  $r_y$  such that  $\hat{\Delta}(E \cap B_{r_y}(y)) \not\succeq \varphi$ . Then  $\{B_{r_y}(y)\}_{y \in (E \setminus E_{\varphi}) \cap B_r(x)}$  is an open cover of the  $\sigma$ -compact set  $(E \setminus E_{\varphi}) \cap B_r(x)$ . So there is a countable subcover  $\{B_{r_{y_k}}(y_k)\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ . Since

$$E \cap B_r(x) = \left(\bigcup_{k=1}^{\infty} B_{r_{y_k}}(y_k) \cap E\right) \cup \left(E_{\varphi} \cap B_r(x)\right)$$

and  $\widehat{\Delta}(B_{r_{y_k}}(y_k) \cap E) \not\succ \varphi \,\forall \, k$ , it must be that  $\widehat{\Delta}(E_{\varphi} \cap B_r(x)) \succ \varphi$  by  $\sigma$ -stability of  $\widehat{\Delta}$ .

I'll now show that  $\widehat{\Delta}(\mathcal{K}(E_{\varphi})) \succ 2^{-1/\varphi}$  from which it easily follows that  $\widehat{\Delta}(\mathcal{K}(E)) \succ 2^{-1/\varphi}$ . Suppose that  $\mathcal{K}(E_{\varphi}) = \bigcup_{1}^{\infty} \widetilde{K}_{n}$ . It may be assumed that each  $\widetilde{K}_{n}$  is closed. By the Baire category theorem, one of the  $\widetilde{K}_{n}$ 's is somewhere dense. This means that there is a set  $D \in \widetilde{K}_{n}$  and an r > 0 such that  $\widetilde{B}_{r}(D) \subset \widetilde{K}_{n}$ . Let  $x \in D$  and define

$$\widetilde{A}_{x,r} = \{ C \in \widetilde{K}_n : C = (D \setminus B_r) \cup F, \text{ where } F \subset B_{r/2}(x) \cap E_{\varphi} \text{ is compact} \}.$$

 $\widetilde{A}_{x,r} \subset \widetilde{K}$  is naturally isometric to  $\mathcal{K}(E_{\varphi} \cap B_{r/2}(x))$  which satisfies  $\Delta(\mathcal{K}(E_{\varphi} \cap B_{r/2}(x)))$  $\succ 2^{-1/\varphi}$ , since  $\Delta(E_{\varphi} \cap B_{r/2}(x)) \succ \varphi$ . Therefore,  $\Delta(\widetilde{K}_n) \succ 2^{-1/\varphi}$  and  $\widehat{\Delta}(\mathcal{K}(E_{\varphi})) \succ 2^{-1/\varphi}$ .  $\square$ 

The next example shows that the converse inequality does not hold.

**Example 4.1.1** Recall the situation from example 2.1.1: Let  $a_n \in \varphi^{-1}(\{1/n\})$  where  $\varphi \in \Phi$ . Let  $X = \{x_0, x_1, x_2, \dots, x_\infty\}$  be a countable set. Define a metric  $\rho$  on X by

$$\rho(x_n, x_m) = \begin{cases} a_n & \text{if } n \neq m = \infty \\ a_n + a_m & \text{if } \infty \neq n \neq m \neq \infty \\ 0 & \text{if } n = m. \end{cases}$$

Then  $\widehat{\Delta}(X) \prec \psi$  for every  $\psi \in \Phi$  as X is the countable union of singletons. But  $\widehat{\Delta}(\mathcal{K}(X)) \succ 2^{-1/\varphi}$ .

**Proof:** Write  $\mathcal{K}(X) = \widetilde{K} \cup \widetilde{I}$  where

$$\widetilde{K} = \{ C \in \mathcal{K}(X) : x_{\infty} \in C \} \text{ and } \widetilde{I} = \{ C \in \mathcal{K}(X) : x_{\infty} \notin C \}.$$

 $\widetilde{I}$  consists of the countably many isolated points of  $\mathcal{K}(X)$ . So  $\widetilde{K}$  is closed in  $\mathcal{K}(X)$ . Any decomposition of  $\mathcal{K}(X)$  induces one of  $\widetilde{K}$ , so suppose that  $\widetilde{K} = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} \widetilde{K}_n$ , where the  $\widetilde{K}_n$  may be assumed closed. By the Baire Category Theorem, one of the  $\widetilde{K}_n$  is somewhere dense. So there exists  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $C \in \widetilde{K}_n$ , and r > 0 such that  $\widetilde{B}_r(C) \subset \widetilde{K}_n$ . Let

$$X_r = \{ x \in X : \rho(x, x_{\infty}) \le r \}, \quad C_r = \{ x \in C : \rho(x, x_{\infty}) > r \},$$

and let

$$\widetilde{A} = \{ D \in \mathcal{K}(E) : D = C_r \cup F \text{ where } F \in \mathcal{K}(X_r) \}.$$

Then  $\widetilde{A} \subset \widetilde{B}_r(C) \subset \widetilde{K}_n$  and  $\widetilde{A}$  is naturally isometric to  $\mathcal{K}(X_r)$ . Now  $\Delta(X_r) \succ \varphi$  by example 2.2.1, so  $\Delta(\mathcal{K}(X_r)) \succ 2^{-1/\varphi}$  by lemma 4.1.1. Thus  $\widehat{\Delta}(\mathcal{K}(X)) \succ 2^{-1/\varphi}.\square$ 

In spite of example 4.1.1 we do have the following:

**Lemma 4.1.4** Suppose that *E* is totally bounded and  $\Delta(E) \prec \varphi(t)$ . Then  $\widehat{\Delta}(E) \prec 2^{-1/\varphi(t/4)}$ .

**Proof:** This immediate by lemma  $4.1.3.\square$ 

Thus sets which are "regular enough" satisfy the expected type of upper bound.

Another interesting example is  $\mathcal{K}([0,1])$ . For c > 0, let  $\varphi_c(t) = 2^{-\frac{c}{t}}$ . In [Goo1], it is shown that  $\dim(\mathcal{K}([0,1])) \prec \varphi_c$  for every c > 0. A careful reading of the proof there shows, in fact,  $\widehat{\Delta}(\mathcal{K}([0,1])) \prec \varphi_c$  for every c > 0. I will investigate a converse to this statement using theorem 4.1.1 and the following lemma. Logarithms are to the base 2.

**Lemma 4.1.5** Let  $\varphi_c(t) = 2^{-\frac{c}{t}}$  and suppose that  $\varphi \prec \varphi_c$  for every c > 0. Let  $\psi(t) = -1/\log(\varphi(t))$ . Then  $\psi \prec t$ .

**Proof:** Let c > 0 and choose  $t_c > 0$  such that  $0 < t < t_c$  implies  $\frac{\varphi_c(t)}{\varphi(t)} \leq 1$ . Then

$$\frac{t}{\psi(t)} = -t\log\varphi(t) \le -t\log\varphi_c(t) = \log(2^{\frac{-c}{t}})^{-t} = c$$

So  $\frac{t}{\psi(t)} \to 0$  as  $t \to 0$ , since c > 0 is arbitrary.  $\Box$ 

**Corollary 4.1.1**  $\widehat{\Delta}(\mathcal{K}([0,1])) \succ \varphi$ , where  $\varphi$  is as above.

**Proof:** Since  $\psi(t) \prec t$ , I have  $\widehat{\Delta}([0,1]) \succ \psi$  and so  $\widehat{\Delta}(\mathcal{K}([0,1])) \succ 2^{-1/\psi} = \varphi$ , by theorem 4.1.1. $\Box$ .

#### **4.2** Hausdorff Dimension of $\mathcal{K}(X)$

In this section I investigate conditions on E to ensure that  $\dim(\mathcal{K}(E)) \sim 2^{-(1/\varepsilon)^s}$ . Early results in this direction are in [Boa, Goo1, Goo2] which deal with  $\mathcal{K}([0, 1])$ .

Calculations of Hausdorff dimensions are generally much more difficult than those for entropy dimensions. Assumptions made on E will be much more stringent. I begin with self-similar sequence space  $\Omega$  and will then transfer the results to other sets modeled by  $\Omega$ . In this section,  $\Omega = (1, \ldots, m)^{\mathbb{N}}$  is a fixed self-similar sequence space with contraction ratio list  $(r_1, \ldots, r_m)$  so that  $\sum_{i=1}^{m} r_i^{s_0} = 1$ .

**Theorem 4.2.1** For M > 0 let  $\varphi_M(\varepsilon) = 2^{-M(1/\varepsilon)^{s_0}}$ . Then there exists an M large enough so that  $\mathcal{H}^{\varphi_M}(\mathcal{K}(\Omega)) < \infty$ .

**Proof:** Choose  $0 < u < \min\{r_i\}$  so that  $1/u^{s_0} = n \in \mathbb{N}$ . For every  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , let

$$L_k = \{ \alpha \in \Omega^* : r(\alpha) \le u^k < r(\alpha) \}.$$

Each  $\alpha \in L_k$  satisfies

$$u^{k+1} < r(\alpha) \le u^k$$

and

$$n^{-(k+1)} < \mathcal{H}^{s_0}([\alpha]) \le n^{-k}$$
(4.1)

by equation 3.1. Suppose that  $\#(L_1) = L$ . Then since each  $\beta \in L_1$  satisfies  $n^{-2} < \mathcal{H}^{s_0}([\beta]) \leq n^{-1}$ , for each  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  the number of descendants of  $\beta$  in  $L_k$  cannot exceed  $n^k$ . So

$$Ln^{k-2} \le \#(L_k) \le Ln^k.$$

Let  $A \subset L_k$  be nonempty. Associate with A a set  $\widetilde{A} \subset \mathcal{K}(\Omega)$  defined by:

$$\widetilde{A} = \{ C \in \mathcal{K}(\Omega) : \{ \alpha \in L_k : [\alpha] \cap C \neq \emptyset \} = A \}.$$

Such a set  $\tilde{A}$  is called a *k-set* and satisfies diam $(\tilde{A}) \leq u^k$ . Since  $\#(L_k) \leq Ln^k$ , there are no more than  $2^{Ln^k} - 1$  such *k*-sets. This leads to the following estimate:

$$\mathcal{H}_{u^k}^{\varphi_M}(\mathcal{K}(\Omega)) \leq \left(2^{Ln^k} - 1\right) \varphi_M(u^k)$$
$$\leq 2^{Ln^k} 2^{-M(1/u^k)^s} = 2^{Ln^k} 2^{-Mn^k} \leq 1$$

as long as  $M \geq L$ . Thus for  $M \geq L$ , I have  $\mathcal{H}^{\varphi_M}(\mathcal{K}(\Omega)) \leq 1.\square$ 

Now for the lower bound, let  $\psi^s(\varepsilon) = 2^{-(1/\varepsilon)^s}$  for s > 0.

**Theorem 4.2.2**  $\mathcal{H}^{\psi^s}(\mathcal{K}(\Omega)) > 0$ , whenever  $s < s_0$ .

**Proof:**  $L_k, L, u, n$ , and k-sets are as in the preceding proof. Given  $A \subset L_k$ , define  $\pi(A) = \#(A)/Ln^{k-2}$ . Let  $n' = 1/u^s < n$ , choose  $p \in (0,1)$  so that n' < pn, then choose  $j \in \mathbb{N}$  large enough so that  $\left(\frac{n'}{pn}\right)^j < \frac{1}{n}$ . I will construct a measure  $\mu$  concentrated on those kj-sets  $\tilde{A}$  with  $\pi(A) \ge p^{kj}/n^k$  so that  $\mu$  satisfies  $\overline{D}_{\mu}^{\psi^s}(x, (u^{kj+1})) \le 1$ 

for every  $x \in \mathcal{K}(\Omega)$  implying the result by lemma 3.3.4. Recall that the definition of  $\overline{D}_{\mu}^{\psi^s}(x, (u^{kj+1}))$  is given in lemma 3.3.4.

The measure  $\mu$  will be constructed recursively. The empty word  $\Lambda$  is the only string of length 0 leading to the one 0-set  $\tilde{\Lambda} = \mathcal{K}(\Omega)$ . Define  $\mu(\mathcal{K}(\Omega)) = 1$ . Fix  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  and suppose that  $\mu$  has been defined for all kj-sets  $\tilde{A}$  such that  $\mu(\tilde{A}) > 0$ only if  $\pi(A) \geq p^{kj}/n^k$ . If  $\tilde{A}$  is such a kj-set, then distribute  $\mu(\tilde{A})$  among all those (k+1)j-sets  $\tilde{B} \subset \tilde{A}$  such that  $\pi(B) \geq \frac{p^{(k+1)j}}{n^{k+1}}$ . Such a set  $\tilde{B}$  will be called an eligible descendent of  $\tilde{A}$ . I need a lower bound on the number of eligible descendants of  $\tilde{A}$ . I have  $\#(A) \geq \frac{p^{kj}}{n^k} Ln^{kj-2}$ , since  $\pi(A) \geq \frac{p^{kj}}{n^k}$ . If  $\alpha \in A \subset L_{kj}$ , then

$$n^{-(kj+1)} < \mathcal{H}^{s_0}([\alpha]) \le n^{-kj},$$

by equation 4.1 while if  $\beta \in L_{(k+1)j}$ , then similarly

$$n^{-(k+1)j-1} < \mathcal{H}^{s_0}([\beta]) \le n^{-(k+1)j}.$$

Thus if  $L_{(k+1)j,\alpha}$  is the set of descendants of  $\alpha$  in  $L_{(k+1)j}$ , then

$$n^{j-1} < \#(L_{(k+1)j,\alpha}) < n^{j+1}.$$

To form an eligible descendent  $\tilde{B} \subset \tilde{A}$  proceed as follows: Take  $\left[p^{j} \frac{p^{kj}}{n^{k}} Ln^{kj-2}\right]$  of the  $\alpha$ 's  $\in \tilde{A}$  and choose all possible descendants  $\beta$  to form part of the set B. This guarantees that

$$\#(B) \ge \left[\frac{p^{(k+1)j}}{n^k} Ln^{kj-2} n^{j-1}\right] = \left[\frac{p^{(k+1)j}}{n^k} Ln^{(k+1)j-3}\right]$$

so that  $\pi(B) \geq \frac{p^{(k+1)j}}{n^{k+1}}$  as required. I am now free to choose descendants of the

$$\left[\frac{p^{kj}}{n^k}Ln^{kj-2}\right] - \left[\frac{p^{(k+1)j}}{n^k}Ln^{kj-2}\right] \ge (1-p^j)(\frac{p^{kj}}{n^k}Ln^{kj-2}) - 1$$

 $\alpha$ 's  $\in A$  as I like. Since each  $\alpha \in A$  has at least  $n^{j-1}$  descendants  $\beta \in L_{(k+1)j}$  and I may choose any possible non-empty subset of these as possible descendants, I get at least

$$(2^{n^{j-1}}-1)^{(1-p^j)(\frac{p^{k_j}}{n^k}Ln^{k_j-2})-1}$$

eligible descendants  $\tilde{B} \subset \tilde{A}$ . This means that any such  $\tilde{B}$  satisfies

$$\mu(\tilde{B}) \le (2^{n^{j-1}} - 1)^{-(1-p^j)(\frac{p^{k_j}}{n^k}Ln^{k_j-2}) - 1} \mu(\tilde{A}).$$

Applying this recursively I get that a kj-set satisfies

$$\begin{split} \mu(\widetilde{A}) &\leq (2^{n^{j-1}} - 1)^{-(1-p^j)Ln^{-2}(1+p^jn^{j-1} + \dots + (p^jn^{j-1})^{k-1}) - k} \\ &= (2^{n^{j-1}} - 1)^{-(1-p^j)Ln^{-2}\frac{(p^jn^{j-1})^k - 1}{p^jn^{j-1} - 1} - k} \\ &\leq 2^{-L'(p^jn^{j-1})^k} \end{split}$$

where L' is a large enough constant.

The diameter of a kj-set is  $\geq u^{kj+1}$ . Let  $n' = 1/u^s < n$ . Then

$$\frac{\mu(\widetilde{A})}{\psi^{s}(u^{kj+1})} \leq \frac{2^{-L'(p^{j}n^{j-1})^{k}}}{2^{-(n')^{kj+1}}} = 2^{(n')^{kj+1}-L'\frac{(p^{j}n^{j})^{k}}{n^{k}}} \to 0$$

Since  $p^j n^{j-1} > (n')^j$  by assumption.

The next order of business is to extend these theorems to more general sets E. For the upper bound, let us suppose that  $E \subset F$  where F is the self-similar set given by the maps  $(f_1, \ldots, f_m)$  with ratio list  $(r_1, \ldots, r_m)$ . Let  $(\Omega, \rho)$  be the corresponding self-similar sequence space. In this situation, it is shown in [Ed1] that there is a surjective Lipschitz map  $h : \Omega \to F$ . Since a Lipschitz map is continuous and the continuous image of a compact set is compact, h extends naturally to a Lipschitz map  $\tilde{h} : \mathcal{K}(\Omega) \to \mathcal{K}(F)$ . Thus the upper bound for  $\mathcal{K}(\Omega)$  should hold for  $\mathcal{K}(E)$ . By composing the map h with another if necessary, it is also clear that F need not be strictly self-similar, but only the Lipschitz image of a self similar set. This is summarized as the following theorem.

**Theorem 4.2.3** Let  $E \subset F$ , where F is the Lipschitz image of a self-similar set with ratio list  $(r_1, \ldots, r_m)$  such that  $\sum_{i=1}^m r_i^{s_0} = 1$ . Then there is an M > 0 large enough so that  $\mathcal{H}^{\varphi_M}(\mathcal{K}(E)) < \infty$ .

For the lower bound, suppose that E has an  $s_0$ -nested packing. Then we may extract a subset  $E' \subset E$  which is bi-Lipschitz equivalent to a self-similar sequence space  $(\Omega, \rho)$  of finite Hausdorff dimension  $s_0$  by lemma 3.4.1. Again, the bi-Lipschitz map  $g : \Omega \to E'$  extends to a bi-Lipschitz map  $\tilde{g} : \mathcal{K}(\Omega) \to \mathcal{K}(E')$ . Thus I have the following theorem.

**Theorem 4.2.4** Suppose that E has an  $s_0$ -nested packing. Then for  $s < s_0$ , I have  $\mathcal{H}^{\psi^s}(\mathcal{K}(E)) > 0.$ 

Next I turn to more concrete examples. Suppose that  $X = (x_0, x_1, \ldots, x_{\infty})$  is a countable metric space with metric  $\rho$  satisfying  $\rho(x_n, x_{\infty}) = a_n \searrow 0$  and  $\rho(x_n, x_m) \ge a_n$  for m < n. Clearly  $\mathcal{H}^{\varphi}(X) = 0$  for every  $\varphi \in \Phi$ . But the following is also true:

**Theorem 4.2.5** Let  $(X, \rho)$  be as above and suppose  $\varphi \in \Phi$  satisfies  $\varphi(a_n) = 2^{-n}$ . Then  $\dim(\mathcal{K}(X)) \asymp \varphi$ .

**Proof:** A set  $T \in \mathcal{K}(X)$  is isolated if and only if  $x_{\infty} \notin T$ . Let

$$\mathcal{K}'(X) = \{T \in \mathcal{K}(X) : x_{\infty} \in T\}.$$

Then  $\mathcal{K}(X) \setminus \mathcal{K}'(X)$  is countable so that  $\mathcal{H}^{\varphi}(\mathcal{K}(X) \setminus \mathcal{K}'(X)) = 0$ .

Turn now to  $\mathcal{K}'(X)$ . For fixed  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , each set  $A \subset \{x_0, \ldots, x_{n-1}\}$  determines a set

$$\widetilde{A}_n = \{T \in \mathcal{K}'(X) : A = T \cap \{x_0, \dots, x_{n-1}\}\}.$$

Note that if  $S, T \in \tilde{A}_n$ , then any point  $x_k \in S$  with  $k \ge n$  satisfies  $\rho(x_k, x_\infty) \le a_n$ . So  $\operatorname{dist}(x_k, T) \le a_n$ , since  $x_\infty \in T$ . Since S and T agree on A, I have that  $\operatorname{dist}(x_k, T) \le a_n$  for every  $x_k \in S$  and vice versa. So  $\operatorname{diam}(\tilde{A}_n) \le a_n$ . In fact,  $A \cup \{x_\infty\}$  and  $A \cup \{x_n, x_\infty\} \in \tilde{A}_n$ , so that  $\operatorname{diam}(\tilde{A}_n) = a_n$ . Now there are  $2^n$  such  $\tilde{A}$ 's contained in  $\{x_0, \ldots, x_{n-1}\}$ . So

$$\mathcal{H}^{\varphi}_{a_n}(\mathcal{K}'(X)) \le 2^n \varphi(a_n) = 2^n 2^{-n} = 1.$$

So  $\mathcal{H}^{\varphi}(\mathcal{K}'(X)) \leq 1$ .

For the lower bound, I will construct a measure  $\mu$  on  $\mathcal{K}'(X)$  recursively. Let  $\mu(\mathcal{K}'(X)) = 1$ . Fix  $m \in \mathbb{N}$  and suppose that  $\mu$  has been constructed so that  $A \subset \{x_0, \ldots, x_{n-1}\}$  implies  $\mu(\tilde{A}_n) = 2^{-n}$  for every  $n \leq m$ . Note that if  $A \subset \{x_0, \ldots, x_{m-1}\}$ , then

$$\widetilde{A}_m = \{T \in \widetilde{A}_m : x_m \in T\} \cup \{S \in \widetilde{A}_m : x_m \notin S\}.$$

Divide  $\mu(\tilde{A}_m)$  evenly between these two sets. In this way  $\mu$  is constructed so that  $\mu(\tilde{A}_n) = 2^{-n}$  for any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $A \subset \{x_0, \ldots, x_{n-1}\}.$ 

Now suppose that  $\widetilde{B} \subset \mathcal{K}'(X)$  satisfies  $a_{n+1} < \operatorname{diam}(\widetilde{B}) \leq a_n$ . Let  $T \in \widetilde{B}$  and let  $A = T \cap \{x_0, \ldots, x_{n-1}\}$ . Then  $\widetilde{B} \subset \widetilde{A}_n$ , so

$$\mu(\tilde{B}) \le 2^{-n} = 2 \cdot 2^{-(n+1)} = 2\varphi(a_{n+1}) < 2\varphi(\operatorname{diam}(\tilde{B})).$$

Thus  $\mathcal{H}^{\varphi}(\mathcal{K}'(X)) \geq 1/2$ , by 3.3.2.  $\Box$ 

### 4.3 Entropy and Hausdorff Dimensions of the Space $\mathcal{C}(\mathbb{R}^d)$

In this section I investigate the entropy and Hausdorff dimensions of the set of compact convex subsets of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , denoted  $\mathcal{C}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , endowed with the Hausdorff metric  $\tilde{\rho}$ . This is a closed subspace of  $\mathcal{K}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  and so is a complete separable metric space. A good reference for general facts about  $\mathcal{C}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  is [Sch].

The case d = 1 is easy. Any closed convex subset of  $\mathbb{R}$  is a closed interval which is uniquely determined by its endpoints.  $\mathcal{C}(\mathbb{R})$  is therefore two dimensional. Results for  $d \geq 2$  rest on the independent work in [Bro] and [Dud] which essentially compute the entropy indices. In particular, theorem 5 in [Bro] states the following:

**Theorem 4.3.1** Let  $T_d = B_1(0)$  be the open ball of radius 1 about the origin in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . Then for  $0 < \varepsilon \leq 1/(10^{12}(d-1))$ ,

$$2^{a_d(1/\varepsilon)^{\frac{d-1}{2}}} \le N_{\varepsilon}(\mathcal{C}(T_d)) \le 2^{b_d(1/\varepsilon)^{\frac{d-1}{2}}},$$

where  $a_d < b_d$  are positive constants depending on d.

In my notation, this implies that if  $\varphi_a(t) = 2^{-a(1/t)^{\frac{d-1}{2}}}$ , then

$$\varphi_{a_d} \preceq \delta(\mathcal{C}(T_d)) \preceq \Delta(\mathcal{C}(T_d)) \preceq \varphi_{b_d}.$$

My first contribution is to extend this to the entropy dimensions.

**Theorem 4.3.2** Let  $\varphi_a(t) = 2^{-a(1/t)^{\frac{d-1}{2}}}$  and suppose that  $\varphi \prec \varphi_a \prec \psi$  for every a > 0. Then for every r > 0,

$$\varphi \prec \widehat{\delta}(\mathcal{C}(B_r(0))) \preceq \widehat{\Delta}(\mathcal{C}(\mathbb{R}^d)) \prec \psi.$$

**Proof:** Let  $T_d$  denote the open unit ball in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . If  $f: T_d \to B_r(0)$  is a similarity with ratio r > 0, then  $\tilde{f}: \mathcal{C}(T_d) \to \mathcal{C}(B_r(0))$  given by  $\tilde{f}(E) = f(E)$  is also a similarity with ratio r. It then follows from theorem 4.3.1 that

$$2^{r^{\frac{d-1}{2}}a_d(1/\varepsilon)^{\frac{d-1}{2}}} \le N_{\varepsilon}(\mathcal{C}(B_r(0))) \le 2^{r^{\frac{d-1}{2}}b_d(1/\varepsilon)^{\frac{d-1}{2}}}.$$

 $\operatorname{So}$ 

$$\varphi_a \prec \delta(\mathcal{C}(B_r(0))) \preceq \Delta(\mathcal{C}(B_r(0))) \prec \varphi_b,$$
(4.2)

whenever  $a < r^{\frac{d-1}{2}} a_d \le r^{\frac{d-1}{2}} b_d < b$ .

For the lower bound I will apply a Baire category argument to the set  $C(B_r(0))$ which is not complete.  $C(B_r(0))$  is easily seen to be open in  $C(\mathbb{R}^d)$  and is therefore topologically complete by theorem 12. 1 in [Oxt]. This means that it may be remetrized by means of a complete metric and so the Baire category theorem still holds.

Fix r > 0 and suppose  $\mathcal{C}(B_r(0)) = \bigcup_n \tilde{C}_n$ , where each  $\tilde{C}_n$  is closed. By Baire category, there are  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $\varepsilon > 0$ , and  $E \in \mathcal{C}(B_r(0))$  such that  $\tilde{B}_{\varepsilon}(E) \subset \tilde{C}_n$ . I claim

that  $\tilde{B}_{\varepsilon}(E) \supset \{E\} + \mathcal{C}(B_{\varepsilon}(0))$  where + stands for set addition  $(E + A = \{x + y : x \in E, y \in A\})$ . This is because set addition is an isometry in  $\mathcal{C}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  (see [Sch] page 59). So if  $A \subset B_{\varepsilon}(0)$ , then  $\tilde{\rho}(E, E + A) < \varepsilon$ . We also see that  $\{E\} + \mathcal{C}(B_{\varepsilon}(0))$  is isometric to  $\mathcal{C}(B_{\varepsilon}(0))$  which satisfies  $\varphi \prec \varphi_a \prec \delta(\mathcal{C}(B_{\varepsilon}(0)))$  for some a > 0 by equation 4.2. Thus  $\varphi \prec \delta(\tilde{C}_n)$  and  $\varphi \prec \hat{\delta}(\mathcal{C}(B_r(0)))$ .

For the upper bound, write  $\mathcal{C}(\mathbb{R}^d) = \bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \mathcal{C}(B_n(0))$ . Then by equation 4.2, for every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , there is a  $b_n > 0$  so that  $\Delta(\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{B}_n(0))) \prec \varphi_{b_n} \prec \psi$ . So  $\widehat{\Delta}(\mathcal{C}(\mathbb{R}^d)) \prec \psi$ .  $\Box$ 

I now turn to the computation of the Hausdorff dimension. The upper bound given above for the entropy dimensions holds for the Hausdorff dimension as well by the comparison theorems 2.1.1 and 2.2.2. The lower bound for the Hausdorff dimension is somewhat weaker and the proof is considerably more difficult. A good reference for the Riesz representation theorem and Alaoglu's theorem as used in the next proof is [Con].

**Theorem 4.3.3** Let  $\psi^s(t) = 2^{-(1/t)^s}$  and suppose that  $s < \frac{d-1}{2}$ . Then  $\dim(\mathcal{C}(\mathbb{R}^d)) \succ \psi^s$ .

**Proof:** Let  $T = B_1(0) \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  be the closed unit ball. I will need to obtain a measure  $\mu$  on  $\mathcal{C}(T)$  as the weak-\* limit of some discrete measures. Let  $S^{d-1} = \partial T^d$  be the unit sphere. Take a d-1 dimensional cube of side length < 1 and project it orthogonally onto  $S^{d-1}$ . Denote this region of  $S^{d-1}$  so obtained by C. Then C is the bi-Lipschitz image of a self-similar d-1 dimensional set and so has a 2s-nested packing since 2s < d-1. Denote this 2s-nested packing by  $\{B_{c\varepsilon}|_{\alpha}|(x_{\alpha})\}_{\alpha\in\Omega^*}$  where  $\Omega = \{1, \ldots, m\}^{\mathbb{N}}$ .

Then I may extract a packing  $\mathcal{B} \subset \{B_{c\varepsilon^{|\alpha|}}(x_{\alpha})\}_{\alpha \in \Omega^*}$  such that for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

$$#(\{\alpha \in \Omega^n : B_{c\varepsilon^n}(x_\alpha) \in \mathcal{B}\}) = (m-1)^{n-1}$$

by lemma 3.4.2. For  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , let

$$\mathcal{B}_n = \{ x_\alpha \in C : B_{c\varepsilon^{|\alpha|}}(x_\alpha) \in \mathcal{B} \text{ and } |\alpha| \le n \}.$$

Let  $x_0 \in S^{d-1}$  be a point opposite C (i.e.  $x_0 \in -C$ ). Each subset  $F \subset \mathcal{B}_n$  determines a convex subset  $\tilde{F} \subset T^d$  given by  $\tilde{F} = \operatorname{conv}(F \cup \{x_0\})$ , where conv denotes the closed convex hull. Let  $G_n$  denote the set of all such convex sets generated by  $\mathcal{B}_n$ . Then

$$#(\mathcal{B}_n) = 1 + (m-1) + (m-1)^2 + \dots + (m-1)^{n-1} = \frac{(m-1)^n - 1}{m-2}$$

and  $\#(G_n) = 2^{\frac{(m-1)^n-1}{m-2}}$ . The elements of  $G_n$  are all distinct. In fact, there is a convenient lower bound on their separation. If  $x_{\alpha} \in E \setminus F$ , where  $E, F \subset \mathcal{B}_n$  and  $|\alpha| = k$ , then any point of F is separated from  $x_{\alpha}$  by at least  $c\varepsilon^k$ . The argument used in [Bro] in the proof of 4.3.1 then shows that there is an a > 0 independent of k such that  $\tilde{\rho}(\tilde{E}, \tilde{F}) \geq a\varepsilon^{2k}$ . Let  $\mu_n$  be normalized counting measure on  $G_n$ . Each  $\mu_n$  is a continuous linear functional on  $C_0(\mathcal{C}(T^d))$  of norm 1 by the Riesz representation theorem. The unit ball in  $C_0(\mathcal{C}(T^d))^*$  is weak-\* compact by Alaoglu's theorem, so  $(\mu_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  has a weak-\* cluster point, say  $\mu$ .

The measure  $\mu$  above will be used in a density argument, so I need to be able to compare the  $\mu$ -measure of a set with its diameter. So fix  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and suppose  $\widetilde{A} \subset \mathcal{C}(T^d)$  is open and satisfies

$$a\varepsilon^{2(n+1)} \leq \operatorname{diam}(\widetilde{A}) < a\varepsilon^{2n}.$$

To estimate  $\mu(\tilde{A})$ , it suffices to estimate  $\mu_j(\tilde{A})$  for large j as  $\mu$  is a weak-\* cluster point of  $(\mu_j)_j$ . This in turn depends on  $\#(\tilde{A} \cap G_j)$ . The restriction on diam $(\tilde{A})$  guarantees that  $\tilde{A}$  cannot contain sets  $E, F \in G_j$  which disagree at some point  $x_\alpha \in \mathcal{B}_n$ . On the other hand,  $\tilde{A}$  is potentially large enough to accommodate all possible choices for  $x_\alpha \in \mathcal{B}_j \setminus \mathcal{B}_n$ . Note

$$#(\mathcal{B}_j \setminus \mathcal{B}_n) = (m-1)^{j-1} + (m-1)^{j-2} + \dots + (m-1)^n \\ = \frac{(m-1)^j - (m-1)^n}{m-2},$$

so  $\#(\tilde{A} \cap G_j) \le 2^{\frac{(m-1)^j - (m-1)^n}{m-2}}$ . An element  $E \in G_j$  has  $\mu_j(\{E\}) = 2^{\frac{1 - (m-1)^j}{m-2}}$ . So

$$\mu_j(\widetilde{A}) \le 2^{\frac{(m-1)^j - (m-1)^n}{m-2}} 2^{\frac{1 - (m-1)^j}{m-2}} = 2^{\frac{1 - (m-1)^n}{m-2}},$$

for every j > n. So  $\mu(\widetilde{A}) \le 2^{\frac{1-(m-1)^n}{m-2}}$ .

Now  $\psi^s(\operatorname{diam}(\widetilde{A})) \ge 2^{-(1/a\varepsilon^{2(n+1)})^s} = 2^{-a'(1/\varepsilon^{2s})^n}$ , where a' > 0 is a constant. So

$$-\frac{\mu(\widetilde{A})}{\psi^s(\operatorname{diam}(\widetilde{A}))} \le 2^{\frac{1-(m-1)^n}{m-2}} 2^{a'(1/\varepsilon^{2s})^n} \to 0$$

as  $n \to \infty$ , since  $1/\varepsilon^{2s} < m-1$  by the definition of a 2*s*-nested packing. This yields the result by lemma 3.3.4.  $\Box$ 

## CHAPTER V

### **Function Spaces**

In [KolTi] the entropy indices are investigated for various compact sets of functions. Of central importance there are sets of functions of some prescribed degree of smoothness. Roughly speaking, if  $E \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  has  $\dim(E) \sim t^s$  and F is the set of functions defined on E and smooth of order q > 0, then  $\dim(F) \sim 2^{-(1/t)^{s/q}}$ . Thus as E increases in dimension, so does F. While an increase in the order of smoothness of the functions in F, decreases the dimension of F. In this chapter I extend these theorems to some other notions of dimension.

#### 5.1 Entropy Dimensions of the Space of Smooth Functions

In order to make the above ideas precise, I will first need to carefully define the set of functions under consideration. Let c > 0,  $d \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $E \subset \mathbb{R}$  be compact, and let  $q = p + \lambda$  where  $p \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $\lambda \in (0, 1]$ . Denote the set of real valued bounded continuous functions defined on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  by  $C(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . Similarly, C(E) denotes the set of real valued continuous (and necessarily bounded) functions on E. If  $f \in C(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , then  $f|_E$  will denote the restriction of f to E. The uniform norm is denoted by  $\|\cdot\|$  and will be applied to functions in both  $C(\mathbb{R}^d)$  and C(E). I want to define a set  $F(c,q,E) \subset C(E)$  which are to be thought of as smooth of order q and bound by c. First I need to define a similar set  $F(c,q,\mathbb{R}^d) \subset C(\mathbb{R}^d)$ .

To define  $F(c, q, \mathbb{R}^d)$  a convenient notation for the partial derivatives of a function  $f \in C(\mathbb{R}^d)$  will be needed. A multi-index  $\alpha$  is a vector in  $\mathbb{N}^d$ . This is not to be confused with the notion of an initial segment. If  $\alpha = (\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_d)$  is a multi-index, then write  $|\alpha| = \alpha_1 + \cdots + \alpha_d$ . If  $f \in C(\mathbb{R}^d)$  is  $|\alpha|$ -times differentiable, then  $D^{\alpha}f(x)$  denotes the partial derivative  $\frac{\partial^{|\alpha|}f(x)}{\partial^{\alpha_1}x_1\dots\partial^{\alpha_d}x_d}$  where  $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_n)$ .

 $F(c,q,\mathbb{R}^d)$  denotes the set of all functions  $f \in C(\mathbb{R}^d)$  such that:

- 1.  $D^{\alpha}f$  exists and satisfies  $||D^{\alpha}f|| \leq c$  for all multi-indices  $\alpha$  with  $|\alpha| \leq p$ .
- 2.  $|D^{\alpha}f(x) D^{\alpha}f(y)| \leq c|x-y|^{\lambda}$  for all  $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^d$  and multi-indices  $\alpha$  with  $|\alpha| = p$ .

Note that condition 1 above includes the case  $|\alpha| = 0$  so that f itself satisfies  $||f|| \leq c$ . The set F(c, q, E) is defined by restricting functions from  $F(c, q, \mathbb{R}^d)$  to E. So write  $g \in F(c, q, E)$  if  $g = f|_E$ , where  $f \in F(c, q, \mathbb{R}^d)$ . The following theorem is a slight modification of theorem 15 in [KolTi].

**Theorem 5.1.1** Fix  $c, q, s_1, s_2 > 0$  and suppose that  $E \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  is a compact set satisfying

$$t^{s_1} \preceq \delta(E) \preceq \Delta(E) \preceq t^{s_2}.$$

Then there are a, b > 0 such that

$$2^{-a(1/t)^{s_1/q}} \preceq \delta(F(c,q,E)) \preceq \Delta(F(c,q,E)) \preceq 2^{-b(1/t)^{s_2/q}}.$$

I should point out that the definition of F(c, q, E) in [KolTi] is somewhat more abstract. However, a close reading of the proof there yields this theorem for the definition of F(c, q, E) given here as well.

The goal in this section is to extend theorem 5.1.1 to the entropy dimensions. As  $\hat{\Delta} \leq \Delta$  in general, the upper bound is not a difficulty. To extend the lower bound to  $\hat{\delta}$  will require a Baire category argument. This in turn requires that F(c,q,E) is uniformly closed in C(E). I have not been able to find this in the literature and so prove it now. This will require several lemmas. The first goal will be to show that  $F(c,q,\mathbb{R}^d)$  is closed in  $C(\mathbb{R}^d)$  with respect to uniform convergence on compact subsets of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . This mode of convergence will henceforth be abbreviated convergence UCS. The notion of equicontinuity will play a crucial role. A family F of real valued functions defined on a metric space  $(X, \rho)$  is said to be *equicontinuous* if for every  $\varepsilon > 0$  there is a  $\delta > 0$  such that  $|f(x) - f(y)| < \varepsilon$  whenever  $f \in F$  and  $\rho(x,y) < \delta$ . Note that a subset of an equicontinuous family of functions is again equicontinuous.

**Lemma 5.1.1** Let c > 0,  $q \in (0, 1]$ , and  $f_n \in F(c, q, \mathbb{R}^d)$  for every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $f_n \to f$  as  $n \to \infty$  pointwise. Then  $f \in F(c, q, \mathbb{R}^d)$ .

**Proof:** Clearly  $||f|| \leq c$ . To establish the Hölder condition, let  $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^d$ ,  $\varepsilon > 0$ , and choose  $n_0 \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $n > n_0$  implies that  $|f_n(x) - f(x)| < \varepsilon/2$  and  $|f_n(y) - f(y)| < \varepsilon/2$ . Then for  $n > n_0$ ,

$$|f(x) - f(y)| \leq |f(x) - f_n(x)| + |f_n(x) - f_n(y)| + |f_n(y) - f(y)|$$
  
$$\leq \frac{\varepsilon}{2} + c|x - y|^q + \frac{\varepsilon}{2} = c|x - y|^q + \varepsilon.$$

Thus  $|f(x) - f(y)| \le c|x - y|^q$ , as  $\varepsilon > 0$  is arbitrary. $\Box$ 

**Lemma 5.1.2** Let c > 0 and let  $q = p + \lambda$  where  $p \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $\lambda \in (0, 1]$ . If  $\alpha$  is a multi-index with  $|\alpha| \leq p$ , then the family  $\{D^{\alpha}f : f \in F(c, q, \mathbb{R}^d)\}$  is equicontinuous.

**Proof:** If  $|\alpha| = p$ , then I may apply the Hölder condition. So let  $\varepsilon > 0$  and choose  $0 < \delta < (\varepsilon/c)^{1/\lambda}$ . Then  $|x - y| < \delta$  implies

$$|D^{\alpha}f(x) - D^{\alpha}f(y)| \le c|x - y|^{\lambda} < c\left((\varepsilon/c)^{\lambda}\right)^{\lambda} = \varepsilon.$$

If  $|\alpha| < p$ , then by the mean value theorem and the bound on  $D^{\beta}(D^{\alpha}f)$  where  $|\beta| = 1$ , we have that  $D^{\alpha}f$  satisfies the Lipschitz condition

$$|D^{\alpha}f(x) - D^{\alpha}f(y)| \le \|\operatorname{grad}(D^{\alpha}f)\| \cdot |x - y| \le dc|x - y|.$$

Thus the same argument applies.  $\Box$ 

The following lemma is commonly known as the Arzelá-Ascoli Theorem and appears in [Fol] as theorem 4.44 (b).

**Lemma 5.1.3** If  $(f_n)_n$  is an equicontinuous pointwise bounded sequence of real valued functions defined of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , then there is a subsequence  $(f_{n_j})_j$  and  $f \in C(\mathbb{R}^d)$  such that  $f_{n_j} \to f$  UCS.

The final lemma appears as theorem 4.56 in [Str].

**Lemma 5.1.4** Let  $I \subset \mathbb{R}$  be a compact interval and let  $(f_n)_n$  be a sequence of real valued differentiable functions on I. Suppose that  $f'_n \to g$  uniformly on I and that for some  $c \in I$ ,  $f_n(c)$  converges. Then there is a differentiable function f defined on I such that  $f_n \to f$  uniformly on I and f' = g.

**Corollary 5.1.1** Suppose that  $f_n \to f$  pointwise on  $\mathbb{R}$  and  $f'_n \to g$  UCS. Then f is differentiable and f' = g.

**Theorem 5.1.2**  $F(c, q, \mathbb{R}^d)$  is closed in  $C(\mathbb{R}^d)$  with respect to the topology of uniform convergence on compact subsets of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ .

**Proof:** The case  $0 < q \leq 1$  is contained in lemma 5.1.1. So suppose that q > 1. For every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , let  $f_n \in F(c, q, \mathbb{R}^d)$  and suppose that  $f_n \to f$  UCS. I want to show that  $f \in F(c, q, \mathbb{R}^d)$ .

I will recursively define a sequence  $n_j \nearrow \infty$  such that  $D^{\alpha} f_{n_j}$  converges UCS as  $j \to \infty$  for every multi-index  $\alpha$  with  $|\alpha| \leq p$ . Let  $M_p$  be the number of multi-indices of length  $\leq p$  and let  $(\alpha_i)_{i=1}^{M_p}$  be a list of those multi-indices with  $|\alpha_1| = 0$ . Let  $j(1) \nearrow \infty$  be just the sequence of natural numbers. Then  $D^{\alpha_1} f_{n_{j(1)}} = f_{n_{j(1)}} \to f$  UCS as  $j(1) \to \infty$ . Suppose that for  $k - 1 < M_p$ , the sequence  $j(k - 1) \nearrow \infty$  has been defined so that  $D^{\alpha_i} f_{n_{j(k-1)}}$  converges UCS to say  $g_{\alpha_i}$  as  $j(k-1) \to \infty$  for every  $i = 1, \ldots, k - 1$ . By lemma 5.1.2 the set  $\{D^{\alpha_k} f_{n_{j(k-1)}}\}_{j(k-1)}$  is equicontinuous. It is also uniformly bounded by c and so by lemma 5.1.3 there is a subsequence j(k) of j(k-1) so that  $(D^{\alpha_k} f_{n_{j(k)}})_{j(k)}$  converges UCS as  $j(k) \to \infty$  to say  $g_{\alpha_k}$ . This process terminates when  $j(M_p)$  is reached to generate the final sequence  $(n_j)_j$  such that  $D^{\alpha} f_{n_j} \to g_{\alpha}$  UCS as  $j \to \infty$  for all multi-indices  $\alpha$  with  $|\alpha| \leq p$ .

Next suppose that  $\alpha$  is a multi-index with  $|\alpha| = 1$ . Then viewing  $(f_{n_j})_j$  as a sequence of functions of the single variable with respect to which  $D^{\alpha}$  differentiates, we see that corollary 5.1.1 applies to the sequences  $f_{n_j} \to f$  UCS and  $D^{\alpha} f_{n_j} \to g_{\alpha}$ UCS. Thus f is differentiable and  $D^{\alpha} f = g_{\alpha}$ . Clearly  $||D^{\alpha}f|| \leq c$  since  $||D^{\alpha}f_{n_j}|| \leq c$ for every j. This same argument may be recursively applied to obtain  $D^{\alpha}f = g_{\alpha}$  and  $||D^{\alpha}f|| \leq c$  for all multi-indices  $\alpha$  with  $|\alpha| \leq p$ .

Finally, for  $|\alpha| = p$ ,  $D^{\alpha}f$  satisfies the necessary Hölder condition by lemma 5.1.1.

**Corollary 5.1.2** F(c,q,E) is compact (and therefore closed) with respect to the uniform norm.

**Proof:** Let  $g_n \in F(c, q, E)$  for every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . So  $g_n = f_n|_E$  where  $f_n \in F(c, q, \mathbb{R}^d)$ . The sequence  $(f_n)_n$  is uniformly bounded by c. By lemma 5.1.2,  $(f_n)_n$  forms an equicontinuous family. Thus by lemma 5.1.3, there is a function  $f \in C(\mathbb{R}^d)$  and a subsequence  $(f_{n_j})_j$  of  $(f_n)_n$  such that  $f_{n_j} \to f$  UCS as  $j \to \infty$ . By theorem 5.1.2,  $f \in F(c, q, \mathbb{R}^d)$ . Thus the function  $g = f|_E$  satisfies  $g \in F(c, q, E)$  and  $g_{n_j} \to g$  uniformly on  $E.\Box$ 

One more lemma is necessary for the main theorem of the section.

**Lemma 5.1.5** Let  $c_1, c_2, q, \gamma > 0$ ,  $f \in F(c_1, q, \mathbb{R}^d)$ , and  $g \in F(c_2, q, \mathbb{R}^d)$ . Then  $f + g \in F(c_1 + c_2, q, \mathbb{R}^d)$  and  $\gamma f \in F(\gamma c_1, q, \mathbb{R}^d)$ .

**Proof:** If  $\alpha$  is a multi-index with  $|\alpha| \leq p$ , then  $D^{\alpha}(f+g) = D^{\alpha}f + D^{\alpha}g$  and

$$||D^{\alpha}(f+g)|| \le ||D^{\alpha}f|| + ||D^{\alpha}g|| \le c_1 + c_2.$$

If  $|\alpha| = p$  and  $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^d$ , then

$$\begin{aligned} |D^{\alpha}(f+g)(x) - D^{\alpha}(f+g)(y)| &\leq |D^{\alpha}f(x) - D^{\alpha}f(y)| + |D^{\alpha}g(x) - D^{\alpha}g(y)| \\ &\leq c_{1}|x-y|^{\lambda} + c_{2}|x-y|^{\lambda} = (c_{1}+c_{2})|x-y|^{\lambda}. \end{aligned}$$

Similarly,  $||D^{\alpha}(\gamma f)|| \leq \gamma c_1$  and

$$||D^{\alpha}(\gamma f(x)) - D^{\alpha}(\gamma f(y))| \le \gamma c_1 |x - y|^{\gamma}.\Box$$

**Corollary 5.1.3** Let  $c_1, c_2, q, \gamma > 0$ ,  $E \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  be compact,  $f \in F(c_1, q, E)$ , and  $g \in F(c_2, q, E)$ . Then  $f + g \in F(c_1 + c_2, q, E)$  and  $\gamma f \in F(\gamma c_1, q, E)$ .

Finally, the following theorem gives a lower bound found for  $\hat{\delta}(F(c,q,E))$ .

**Theorem 5.1.3** Let s, q, c > 0 be fixed and suppose that  $\varphi \prec 2^{-a(1/t)^{s/q}}$  for every a > 0. If the compact set  $E \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  satisfies  $\delta(E) \succeq t^s$  then  $\widehat{\delta}(F(c,q,E)) \succ \varphi$ .

**Proof:** Suppose that  $F(c, q, E) = \bigcup_n F_n$  where each  $F_n$  is closed. By Baire category there is an  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  an  $f \in F_n$ , and an r > 0 such that  $B_r(f) \subset F_n$ . I may assume, in fact, that  $f \in F(c', q, E)$  where 0 < c' < c. Otherwise, just replace f with  $\gamma f$  where  $\gamma < 1$  is close enough to 1 so that  $\gamma f \in B_r(f)$ . Then  $\gamma f \in F(\gamma c, q, E)$  and there is an r' > 0 such that  $B_{r'}(\gamma f) \subset B_r(f)$ .

Consider now  $g \in F(\min(r, c - c'), q, E)$ . By corollary 5.1.3,  $g + f \in F(c, q, E)$ . Thus

$$g \in B_r(f) - \{f\} = \{h - f : h \in B_r(f)\}\$$

since we may take h = g + f.  $B_r(f) - \{f\}$  is clearly isometric to  $B_r(f)$  and we see that

$$B_r(f) - \{f\} \supset F(\min(r, c - c'), q, E).$$

Thus by theorem 5.1.1, there is an a > 0 such that  $\delta(F_n) \succ \delta(B_r(f)) \succ 2^{-a(1/t)^{s/q}} \succ \varphi$ and  $\widehat{\delta}(F(c,q,E)) \succ \varphi.\Box$ 

It is interesting to note that the bound on  $\hat{\delta}(F(c,q,E))$  is expressed in terms of  $\delta(E)$  rather than  $\hat{\delta}(E)$ . thus a set small with respect to  $\hat{\delta}$  (but large with respect to  $\delta$ ) can lead to a set of functions large with respect to  $\hat{\delta}$ . For example, the set  $E = \{0, 1, \frac{1}{2}, \ldots, \frac{1}{n}, \ldots\} \subset \mathbb{R}$  satisfies  $\delta(E) \preceq \Delta(E) \prec \varphi$  for every  $\varphi \in \Phi$  since E is countable. E also satisfies  $\delta(E) \asymp \Delta(E) \asymp t^{1/2}$  ([Fal2] example 3.5). Thus for 0 < s < 1/2 and q > 0 we have  $\hat{\delta}(F(c,q,E)) \succ 2^{-(1/t)^{s/q}}$ .

#### 5.2 Hausdorff Dimension of the Space of Smooth Functions

In this section, I investigate the Hausdorff dimension of F(c, q, E). The upper bound given in theorem 5.1.1 holds for the Hausdorff dimension as well, so I concentrate here on the lower bound. As with the space  $\mathcal{K}(E)$ , I need to make stronger assumptions on the set E.

**Theorem 5.2.1** Fix s, q, c > 0 and suppose the compact set E has an s-nested packing. Then  $\dim(F(c, q, E)) \succ \varphi_{s/q}(t) = 2^{-(1/t)^{s/q}}$ .

**Proof:** Let

$$g(x) = \begin{cases} a \prod_{i=1}^{d} (1+x_i)^q (1-x_i)^q & \text{if all } |x_i| < 1 \\ 0 & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

where  $x = (x_0, \ldots, x_d) \in \mathbb{R}^d$  and a > 0 is a constant. Note that if a is chosen small enough, then  $g \in F(c, q, E)$ . Note also that for  $b \in (0, 1)$  we have  $b^q g(x/b) \in$ F(c, q, E).

Now *E* has an *s*-nested packing say  $\{B_{c_0\varepsilon^{|\alpha|}}(x_\alpha)\}_{\alpha\in\Omega^*}$ . Extract from this a packing *B* satisfying

$$#(\{\alpha \in \Omega^n : B_{c_0 \varepsilon^n}(x_\alpha) \in \mathcal{B}\}) = (m-1)^{n-1},$$

as guaranteed by lemma 3.4.2. Recall that  $m, c_0, \varepsilon$ , and s are all fixed and satisfy  $m > (1/\varepsilon)^s + 1$ . Define  $\mathcal{B}_n = \{B_{c_0\varepsilon^n}(x_\alpha) \in \mathcal{B} : \alpha \in \Omega^n\}$ . I'll now define some discrete sets and argue in a way very similar to theorem 4.3.3. Let  $G_n$  be the set of all those functions  $f \in F(c, q, E)$  of the form:

$$f(x) = \begin{cases} \pm \left(\frac{c_0\varepsilon}{\sqrt{d}}\right)^q g\left(\frac{\sqrt{d}(x-x_\alpha)}{c_0\varepsilon}\right) & \text{for } x \in B_{c_0\varepsilon}(x_\alpha) \in \mathcal{B}_1\\ \vdots & \vdots\\ \pm \left(\frac{c_0\varepsilon^n}{\sqrt{d}}\right)^q g\left(\frac{\sqrt{d}(x-x_\alpha)}{c_0\varepsilon^n}\right) & \text{for } x \in B_{c_0\varepsilon^n}(x_\alpha) \in \mathcal{B}_n\\ 0 & \text{for all other } x. \end{cases}$$

Now  $\#(\mathcal{B}_k) = (m-1)^{k-1}$  and for each  $B \in \bigcup_{k=1}^n \mathcal{B}_k$  there are two choices to form an  $f \in G_n$  induced by the  $\pm$  above. So

$$#(G_n) = 2 \cdot 2^{m-1} \cdots 2^{(m-1)^{n-1}}$$
$$= 2^{1+(m-1)+\dots+(m-1)^{n-1}} = 2^{\frac{(m-1)^n-1}{m-2}}.$$

As in the proof of theorem 4.3.3, let  $\mu_n$  be normalized counting measure on  $G_n$  and let  $\mu$  be a weak-\* cluster point of  $\{\mu_n\}$ . Let  $A \subset F(c, q, E)$  be open and satisfy

$$2a(\frac{c_0}{\sqrt{d}})^q \varepsilon^{(n+1)q} \le \operatorname{diam}(A) < 2a(\frac{c_0}{\sqrt{d}})^q \varepsilon^{nq}.$$

I want an upper bound on  $\mu(A)$ . For this it suffices to have a bound on  $\mu_j(A)$  for large j, which I get by estimating  $\#(A \cap G_j)$ . Note that if two functions  $f_1, f_2 \in G_j$ disagree on some  $B \in \mathcal{B}_k$ , then they will disagree by at least  $2a(\frac{c_0}{\sqrt{d}})^q \varepsilon^{nq}$ . So A is big enough to allow functions to do what they like on any  $B \in \mathcal{B}_k$  if  $k = n + 1, \ldots, j$ , but functions in  $A \cap G_n$  are restricted to just one choice on any  $B \in \mathcal{B}_k$  for  $k = 1, \ldots, n$ . So for j > n,

$$#(A \cap G_j) \leq 2^{(m-1)^{j-1}} \cdot 2^{(m-1)^{j-2}} \cdots 2^{(m-1)^n}$$
  
=  $2^{(m-1)^n ((m-1)^{j-n-1} + (m-1)^{j-n-2} + \dots + 1)}$   
=  $2^{(m-1)^n \left(\frac{(m-1)^{j-n} - 1}{m-2}\right)} = 2^{\frac{(m-1)^j - (m-1)^n}{m-2}}$ 

Any  $f \in G_j$  satisfies  $\mu_j(\{f\}) = 2^{\frac{1-(m-1)^j}{m-2}}$ , so

$$\mu_j(A) \le 2^{\frac{(m-1)^j - (m-1)^n}{m-2}} 2^{\frac{1 - (m-1)^j}{m-2}} = 2^{\frac{1 - (m-1)^n}{m-2}}$$

and  $\mu(A) \le 2^{\frac{1-(m-1)^n}{m-2}}$ .

Now diam $(A) \ge 2a(\frac{c_0}{\sqrt{d}})^q \varepsilon^{(n+1)q}$ , so

$$\varphi_{s/q}(\operatorname{diam}(A)) \ge 2^{-(2a\left(\frac{c_0}{\sqrt{d}}\right)^q \varepsilon^{(n+1)q})^{-s/q}} = 2^{-c'(1/\varepsilon^s)^n},$$

where c' is constant. Thus

$$\frac{\mu(A)}{\varphi_{s/q}(\operatorname{diam}(A))} \le 2^{\frac{1-(m-1)^n}{m-2}} 2^{c'(1/\varepsilon^s)^n} \to 0$$

as  $n \to \infty$ , since  $m - 1 > 1/\varepsilon^s$ . This implies the result by lemma 3.3.4.

#### BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [Boa] Elaine Boardman, "Some Hausdorff measure properties of the space of compact subsets of [0,1]." Quart. Journal Math. Oxford Ser. (2), 24 (1973), 333-341.
- [Bou] G. Bouligand, "Ensembles impropres et nombre diminsionnel." Bulletin des Sciences Mathématiques. 52 (1928) 320-344, 361-376. Partial translation in [Ed2].
- [Bro] E. M. Bronshtein, " $\varepsilon$ -entropy of convex sets and functions." Siberian Math Journal. 17 (1976) 393-398.
- [Ca] C. Carathéodory, "Über das lineare Maß von Punktmengen-eine Verallgemeinerung des Längenbegriffs." Nachrichten der K. Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften zu Göttingen, Mathematisch-physikalische Klasse (1914) 404-426. Translation in [Ed2] 47-74.
- [Con] John B. Conway, A Course in Functional Analysis (2nd ed.). Springer-Verlag, 1990.
- [Cut] Colleen D. Cutler, "The density theorem and Hausdorff inequality for packing measure in general metric spaces." Preprint.
- [Dud] R. M. Dudley, "Metric entropy of some classes of sets with differentiable boundaries." Journal of Approximation Theory, 10 (1974), 227-236.
- [Ed1] G. A. Edgar, Measure, Topology, and Fractal Geometry. Springer-Verlag, 1990.
- [Ed2] G. A. Edgar (ed.), Classics on Fractals. Addison-Wesley Publishing Company, 1993.
- [Fal1] K. J. Falconer, The Geometry of Fractal Sets. Cambridge University Press, 1985.
- [Fal2] K. J. Falconer, Fractal Geometry: Mathematical Foundations and Applications. John Wiley & and Sons, 1990.
- [Fol] G. Folland, *Real Analysis*. John Wiley & Sons, 1984.

- [Goo1] P. R. Goodey, "Some Results Concerning the Dimension of the Space of Compact Subsets of the Unit Interval." Quart. Journal Math. Oxford Ser. (2), 27 (1976), 467-473.
- [Goo2] P. R. Goodey, "Hausdorff Measure Functions in the Space of Compact Subsets of the Unit Interval." Transactions of the American Mathematical Society, 226 (1977), 203-208.
- [Ha] Felix Hausdorff, "Dimension und äußeres Maß." Mathematische Annalen. 79 (1918) 157-179. Translation in [Ed2] 75-102.
- [KolTi] A. N. Kolmogorov and V. M. Tihomirov, "ε-entropy and ε-capacity of sets in functional spaces." Amer. Math. Soc. Translations Series 2. 17 (1961), 277-364.
- [PonSc] L. Pontrjagin and L. Schnirelmann, "Sur une propriété métrique de la dimension." Annals of Math. 33 (1932) 156-162. Translation in [Ed2] 133-144.
- [Oxt] John C. Oxtoby, Measure and Category (2nd ed.). Springer-Verlag, 1980.
- [RayTr] St. Raymond and C. Tricot, "Packing regularity of sets in *n*-space." Math. Proc. Camb. Phil. Soc. 103 (1988), 133-145.
- [Rog] C. A. Rogers, Hausdorff Measures. Cambridge University Press, 1970.
- [RogTay] C. A. Rogers and S. J. Taylor, "Additive set functions in Euclidean space II." Acta Mathematica, 109 (1963), 207-240.
- [Sch] Rolf Schneider, Convex Bodies: The Brunn-Minkowski Theory. Cambridge University Press, 1993.
- [Str] Karl Stromberg, Introduction to Classical Real Analysis. Wadsworth, Inc., 1981.
- [TayTr] S. J. Taylor and C. Tricot, "Packing measure and its evaluation for a brownian path." Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 288 (1985), 679-699.
- [Tr] C. Tricot, "Two definitions of fractional dimension." Math. Proc. Camb. Phil. Soc. 91 (1982), 52-74.
- [Weg] H. Wegmann, "Die Hausdorff-Dimension von kartesischen Produkten metrischer Räume." Journal fur die Reine und Angewandte Mathematik, **235** (1971) 46-75.